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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
TRBEE

For and on behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”), |
would like to present the annual report of the Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2017.

RESULT ANALYSIS AND BUSINESS REVIEW

2017 witnessed the rapid development in the Group’s
operation. With the acceleration and anticipated growth in
the global economy, the positive momentum in the economic
growth of the developed economies, the stabilization and
recovery of the emerging markets and developing economies,
and the positive results of the structural adjustment of
China’s economy, the flexible printed circuit (“FPC") industry
wellcomed rare development opportunities. It is expected that
following the commencement of the commercial application
of 5G and the continuous expansion of new application fields
of FPC, more products such as display modules, new energy
vehicles, wireless charging and smart wearable devices will
incorporate FPC design. The FPC industry is expected to see
frequent capital injections, production expansions, mergers and
reorganizations and increased demand in technical difficulties
and quality of products. The competition in the FPC market will
become more and more intense.

The Group recorded turnover of approximately
HK$1,118,838,000 in the financial year of 2017, representing
an increase of approximately 36.16% as compared to that
of last year (2016: approximately HK$821,662,000). Profit
attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2017 was approximately HK$79,016,000,
representing an increase of approximately 182.76%
as compared to that of last year (2016: approximately
HK$27,944,000). As at 31 December 2017, basic earnings
per share was approximately HK6.62 cents, representing an
increase of approximately 143.38% as compared to that of last
year (2016: approximately HK2.72 cents).
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
TEH/REF

During the year under review, due to staggering growth
in demand from domestic customers, the Group recorded
a significant increase in the sales of FPC business, which
gradually realised the benefits of economies of scale. The
sales of flexible packaging substrates business also recorded
a significant increase, and its gross profit margin increased
to approximately 13.95% (2016: approximately 2.57%). The
increase in the overall results of the Group was hard-earned,
which reflects recognition in the core capacity of the Group by
the market and customers. The Group will bring better returns
for the market and customers.

During the year under review, the Group’s investment
in research and development decreased. The research
and development expenses decreased to approximately
HK$79,882,000, representing a decrease of approximately
13.29% as compared to that of last year. The decrease in
research and development expenses was mainly attributed to
the completion of the major development tasks for the “02”
major project titled “Development and Industrialization of
Tape High-Density and Ultra-Thin Flexible Packaging Substrates
Technology” ((BHABBEBEXUHRER T BMEFEERE
{£) ) under National Science and Technology Major Project for
the year 2014 undertaken by the Group and the on schedule
completion of certain major specifications in year 2016, which
resulted in a significant decrease in the expenses incurred for
the “02" major project.

During the year under review, the Group continued its
cooperation with the substantial shareholder, GoerTek Inc.
("GoerTek").
FPC and flexible packaging substrates of approximately
HK$120,009,000 (2016: approximately HK$90,822,000) to
GoerTek, representing a year-on-year growth of approximately
32.14%.

During the year under review, the Group sold
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
TRBEE

On 13 March 2017, the Company completed the issue
of 246,867,500 rights shares (“Rights Shares”) to the
qualifying shareholders by way of rights (“Rights Issue”),
at the subscription price of HK$0.55 per Rights Share.
The net proceeds from the Rights Issue was approximately
HK$133,506,000. In addition, on 29 November 2017,
the Company entered into a subscription agreement with
Alpha Luck Industrial Limited (“Alpha Luck”),
shareholder of the Company, and a subscription agreement

a controlling
with Suzhou Anjie Technology Co. Ltd (“Anjie Technology”),
respectively, pursuant to which Alpha Luck and Anjie
Technology respectively subscribed for 103,900,000 shares and
200,000,000 shares at the subscription price of HK$1.50 per
share (collectively the “Subscriptions”). The net proceeds of
the Subscriptions were approximately HK$454,900,000. The
Subscriptions were simultaneously completed on 30 January
2018. Through the raising of funds, the Group strengthened its
capital base and financial strength and laid a sound foundation
for the Group’s future development.

Looking into 2018, it is expected that the share of China's
key mobile phone manufacturers in the global market will be
maintained and uplifted. The Group is confident to maintain
and increase its share of supply to major customers and
expects to benefit from the growth of such customers. In
addition, following the Group’s investments in response to
the new and maturing application fields of FPC and flexible
packaging substrates such as display modules, new energy
vehicles, wireless charging and smart wearable devices, the
Group expects to achieve greater development in these
new application fields. The management of the Group will
strive to seize the opportunities, overcome the difficulties
and continuously improve the operation results, so as to
present satisfactory results and bring favourable returns to its
shareholders.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
TEH/REF

APPRECIATION

Mr. Zhao Xiao does not seek for renewal of his term of office
as an independent non-executive director, the chairman of the
remuneration committee, a member of the audit committee
and a member of the nomination committee of the Company
after its expiration on 25 February 2018 due to his other
business commitments. On 30 January 2018, Mr. Wang
Chunsheng was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company.

For and on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to thank Mr. Zhao for his valuable contribution to
the Company and express our warm welcome to Mr. Wang for
joining our company.

In addition, for and on behalf of the Board, | would like to
take this opportunity to thank the management and all staff
members of the Group for their dedication and invaluable
contributions to the Group in the past year. | would also
like to thank our customers, suppliers, business partners and
shareholders for their continuous support to the Group. The
Group will do its best to achieve good results and secure ideal
returns for our shareholders.

AKM Industrial Company Limited
Xiong Zheng Feng
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 March 2018
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT OF THE GROUP
AEBEEREREEE

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out below:

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng (R&IEI£), aged 48, is the chairman
of the Company and an executive Director. In July 1992, he
graduated from the Department of Computer Science of
K2 (Nankai University) and obtained his bachelor degree in
science. He then obtained his master degree in economics from
R R B &L EAPT (Nankai University School of Economics)
in July 1995. Mr. Xiong joined FEIILF TEHR QA (FIH
F 4L 5 T %22 a]) (China North Industries Corporation) in
August 1995 and took up the post of deputy general manager
of FEIIL S T EP A A (China North Industries Xiamen
Corporation) from October 1999 to November 2000. From April
2003 to January 2011, he was an alternate director of Raymond
Industrial Ltd, a company whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong, and is a non-executive director since
January 2011. In November 2000, Mr. Xiong joined Silver
City International (Holdings) Ltd. (SREBEK (£B8) AR A A])
("Silver City"), the controlling shareholder of the Company, as
assistant General Manager and was promoted to the position
of Deputy General Manager of Silver City in March 2004. He is
also a director of Alpha Luck Industrial Limited (Z#E 2 AR A
7)), the controlling shareholder of the Company, since March
2001. Mr. Xiong is also a director of the subsidiaries of the
Group, namely AKM Electronics Industrial (Panyu) Ltd. and AKM
Electronic Technology (Suzhou) Company Limited. Mr. Xiong
joined the Company in March 2001 and is responsible for
the Group’s corporate policy formulation, business strategies
planning, business development and management of the
Group. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Xiong does not hold any
directorship in other listed companies in the past three years,
and does not have any other relationship with any directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders, or controlling
shareholders of the Company.

Annual Report 2017

—E—LEER

AEEEERSREREBZREFBNOT

5%
BITES

REIEME 4 @ EFA85  RARATERAT
BN -FELAREERERAAEFE
BE BRSESESELE8 - KEEKXN-ANEA
FLANGHERAABEESREESRR L2
fL-fRAEER—NANEFNAMATBEILT
TXERAA (AAFEILELTIERA) -
“NANMNFE+AZE-_ZZTTFE+—-AHFEHE
PEIEFTTIXREFIRRZ BIRKIERT - AR
EBZEE=FNOAE_T——F— LI
REXAERAR (EROHRBEMIMLEN) 2
BEEZE W _ZT——F - AEBRINTE
£ _ZTEZEF+ A RELEMARERR
(RE)BERDF(RE]) (EAARAMER
PR HEBEARE YR _ZTME=AL
BENEREFNELE-B -RIAE_TT—F
ZAELERNEXERAR (EAARAMN
ZRIRR)EE - RELETNREAEENB LR
M (BR)ETEXERABARLZENE
FRREMN BRAFNES - REEN T
E-F=ZAMAKRRR  BEAEBZEER
RHFT  XEHRERE  XBAREKERE - KR
FXHWBEIN  REENBE=FHAENE
fb L RREEEMEREL - RABEERRQ
AEFEE SMEEE TERRIEBRK
REEMEMBE -



AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEF E£ 5 R 2 7

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT OF THE GROUP
rEBEERSREEE

Non-executive Director

Ms. Li Ying Hong (Z=BRAL), aged 54, was appointed as an
executive Director on 10 June 2003 and was re-designated as
a non-executive Director since 5 September 2014. In July 1985,
Ms. Li obtained her bachelor degree in corporate finance and
accounting from JT PB4 26T (Jiangxi College of Finance).
In May 2003, she obtained her master degree in international
management from Australia National University. During
the period from August 1985 to February 2003, Ms. Li was
employed as, amongst other roles, deputy chief accountant,
deputy general manager and chief accountant of FE &
T2 F (China Wanbao Engineering Corporation). From
March 2001 to April 2003, she was a director for 1t 57 B &
ERR 1 B R A7) (Norinco International Cooperation Company
Limited), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
in China. She was a non-executive director of Raymond
Industrial Ltd. (a company whose shares are listed on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong) from July 2008 until 26 May
2017. In June 2003, Ms. Li joined Silver City, the controlling
shareholder of the Company, as a director, deputy general
manager and financial controller, and ceased to be the financial
controller of Silver City since January 2016. At the same time,
she joined the Company and is responsible for the Group's
corporate policy formulation, business strategies planning,
business development and management of the Group.
Ms. Li is a director of the subsidiaries of the Group, namely,
AKM Electronics Industrial (Panyu) Ltd. and AKM Electronic
Technology (Suzhou) Company Limited. Save as disclosed
above, Ms. Li does not hold any directorship in other listed
companies in the past three years, and does not have any other
relationship with any directors, senior management, substantial
shareholders, or controlling shareholders of the Company.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT OF THE GROUP
AEBEEREREEE

Mr. Gao Xiaoguang (S B ), aged 42, is currently vice
general manager of GoerTek Inc. (“GoerTek”), a substantial
shareholder of the Company. Mr. Gao graduated from
Shandong Institute of Technology (1L & T2 £ %) in July 1998
and obtained his master degree in business administration from
Southern Cross University in 2006. Mr. Gao joined GoerTek
in 2001. Mr. Gao was appointed as non-executive Director of
the Company on 12 March 2015. Mr. Gao does not hold any
directorship in other listed companies in the past three years,
and does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders, or controlling
shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Jia Junan (EE %), aged 47, is currently vice general
manager of and secretary to the board of directors of GoerTek.
He graduated from Shandong Institute of Finance and
Economics (LU BFBE BT ) in July 1993 with a bachelor degree
in economics and obtained his master degree in economics
from Shandong University (LI Z X2 )in 2003. Mr. Jia obtained
a doctorate degree in economics in 2008 from Xiamen
University (JEFSAXE) . He is a member of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of The Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Jia obtained a
qualification certificate for secretary to board of directors (&
EEWEERFE)issued by the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
in 2013. Mr. Jia was previously manager of tax department
of KPMG China, Tsingdao office, and he joined GoerTek in
2010. Mr. Jia was appointed as a non-executive Director of the
Company on 17 November 2015. Mr. Jia does not hold any
directorship in other listed companies in the past three years,
and does not have any relationship with any other directors,
senior management, substantial shareholders, or controlling
shareholders of the Company.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT OF THE GROUP
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Mr. Wang Chunsheng (£ &%), aged 43, graduated
from School of Mechanical Design and Engineering, Jiangsu
University of Science and Technology (JT &k 32 T K B2 # i 3%
ST TRERR)in June 1998. Mr. Wang joined Suzhou Anjie
Technology Co. Ltd (N & 2 & AR 7 B R 2 a8) (“Anjie
Technology”) (a substantial shareholder of the Company)
in 2000 and is currently the chairman of the board of Anjie
Technology (which is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
with stock code 002635). Mr. Wang was appointed as
non-executive Director of the Company on 30 January 2018.
Mr. Wang does not hold any directorship in other listed
companies in the past three years, and does not have any
relationship with any other directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders, or controlling shareholders of the
Company.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew (7 3&), aged 49, is currently
the director of Norton Rowland CPA Limited. He received his
professional training in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and has
worked for UBS Investment Bank as business unit controller for
seven years. Mr. Hung was awarded the degree of Bachelor of
Arts in Accountancy by The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
(formerly known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic) and the degree
of Master of Applied Finance by the University of Western
Sydney. Mr. Hung is a practicing Certified Public Accountant,
an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, and a fellow member of The Chartered
Association of Certified Accountants. Mr. Hung is also an
independent non-executive director of FDG Kinetic Limited
(formerly known as CIAM Group Limited), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since 1 July 2008.
Mr. Hung was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director since 17 October 2011. Save as disclosed above,
Mr. Hung does not hold any directorship in other listed
companies in the past three years, and does not have any
relationship with any other directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders, or controlling shareholders of the
Company.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT OF THE GROUP
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Mr. Cui Zheng (##%), aged 63, is currently the supervisor
of the academic committee of the Suzhou Institute of Nano-
Tech and Nano-Bionics, Chinese Academy of Science (/R E &}
B BT &R N 40 0K 3 4l BB 49 2K (5 LE B 9T FT) and the supervisor of
the Printable Electronics Research Center (ENfR| & ¥ 2 #f 3¢
#B)at the Suzhou Institute of Nano-Tech and Nano-Bionics.
Mr. Cui obtained his doctorate degree in engineering from
Southeast University (B K 2)in 1988. He is a fellow of
the Institution of Engineering and Technology (previously the
Institution of Electrical Engineers) since 2004. He is also a State
Specially Recruited Expert under the “1000 Talent Plan” of
the Government of the People’s Republic of China since 2009.
He is also the vice secretary-general of National Innovation
Association of Printed Electronics Industrial Technology (& E
ENRIE FEZEFMAIFER), and vice president of Touch
Screen Advisor Committee of SEMI China (regional office of
Semiconductor Equipment and Materials International). Mr. Cui
was elected “Scientific Chinese” of Year 2010. Mr. Cui was
previously a visiting fellow at the Cavendish Laboratory of
the University of Cambridge. Further, he was also previously
Principal Scientist at the Central Microstructure Facility of
Rutherford Appleton Laboratory in the United Kingdom.
Mr. Cui was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 3 May 2016. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Cui does
not hold any directorship in other listed companies in the past
three years, and does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders, or
controlling shareholders of the Company.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT OF THE GROUP
rEBEERSREEE

Mr. Zhao Xiao (#®), aged 51, is the chief economist of
Cypress Leadership Institute (B8 % J##) . He graduated
from Shandong University (1L & X £) in July 1989 with a
bachelor degree in economics and obtained a master degree in
economics in July 1995 from Institute of Economic Research of
Nankai University (Fa 5 K245 FTFT) . Mr. Zhao obtained a
doctorate degree in economics in 1999 from Guanghua School
of Management of Beijing University (It R K2} EEFE S
B%T). Mr. Zhao is an expert committee member of & B 5= i &
(¥meEXEMBMEIEEZ E L (transliteration “Committee
of Industry and Market Research of the China Real Estate
Association”). He is also a special research fellow of China
Society of Economic Reform (B4 EEEHI N EMITE). He
was previously a professor and doctoral supervisor of University
of Science and Technology Beijing (4t EEHZ K E) . Further,
he had previously worked for the former State Economic and
Trade Commission Research Centre (Bl R & B Z W 55 L)
and was head of Department of Macro Strategy, Research
Centre of State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the State Council (BI#pz Bl & Z 78 0 7= 8
BiEE L) . Mr. Zhao is also an independent director of Wanda
Cinema Line Co., Ltd (BEE & @D B R A7) (a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange with stock code 2739),
since 30 November 2012. Save as disclosed above, Mr. Zhao
does not hold any directorship in other listed companies in the
past three years, and does not have any relationship with any
other directors, senior management, substantial shareholders,
or controlling shareholders of the Company. Mr. Zhao was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 16
February 2015 and his term of appointment has expired on 15
February 2018, and Mr. Zhao did not seek for renewal of his
term of office due to his other business commitments. (Relevant
disclosure in relation to Mr. Zhao's cessation of office had been
made in the announcement of the Company dated 15 February
2018).

Annual Report 2017

—E—LEEH

HBEELE BESI1m REMHESHIRENE
FEBEER - R —NW\NFLAZERILE
A2 BAKBEEEat+8Ey  YR—-AILEE
T ARMAASKEERNEMBERLCESEL
B o HAEER—NMNNFRIEFABHES
BERERKESETEM BELATEE
WMEXHEEXEMBMEEXZTESTER
Z B o RN AT B ES HI S E 5 g B
RE FEEFLERABREASBHELBLELSE
Bl o ttoh - BERATBEIREEZ RS LER
FETRBEREE Z 7T O 7R B 8RS 3030
R-BAEBT——_F+—H=THREITLH
FEEEERGERNER AR (—ERRIIE
HER G LMz ARG  EHENTE2739) 2B
EEx -BREXEREEIN  HEERBEA=FM
WENEM Em AR HEEMESRA - R
EEANTTANES SRBEE TERE
IR REECAEBER - HEEEZT
—AF A+ NBREZEABILIERTE
Z-HAEHERZZE-\F_RA+ABER "
e EREMERRERSKET - (BEH
EHEBERECR - Z-NFEF-_A+HAZAK
NEIRMHTIAREE) -

13



14

AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEF E% 5 R 2 7

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT OF THE GROUP

AKBEERS

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Chai Zhi Qiang (¥ ), aged 57, is the chief executive
officer of the Company. He was previously an executive
Director and has retired as an executive Director on 26 May
2017. In January 1982, he graduated from the ¢ % fit
B ¥ (Faculty of Laser Technology) of & & 3t B 15 % 1 4 2
Bt (Changchun Institute of Optics and Fine Mechanics) and
obtained his bachelor degree in engineering. He then obtained
his #5272 (Certificate on continuing education) from the
BEFBREIEBR (Hong Kong Sino-Australia Management
College) in June 2001. From February 1982 to September
1992, Mr. Chai was employed by the L& & % M B ¥
%22 B (Shuguang Appliances Factory of Yangzhou City,
Jiangsu Province) as engineer and branch-factory manager. He
then joined SRF (BM) ETFEEEEEMR A A (Alpha Luck
Electronic & Electric Appliance Industrial (Guangzhou) Ltd.) in
October 1992 as project manager. In January 1994, Mr. Chai
joined the Company and is responsible for research and
development and overall management of the Group. Mr. Chai
has over 25 years of experience in the flexible printed circuit
production industry. Mr. Chai is a director of the subsidiaries of
the Group, namely, AKM Electronics Industrial (Panyu) Ltd. and
AKM Electronic Technology (Suzhou) Company Limited.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Hung Ching Yuen GE&E),
secretary of the Company. Ms.

aged 38, is the company

Hung graduated from the
University of Hong Kong and obtained her Bachelor of Laws
degree and Postgraduate Certificate in Laws in 2001 and 2002
respectively. She obtained her Master of Laws degree from
University College London in 2003. Ms Hung is a solicitor
practicing in Hong Kong since 2006 and was appointed as the
company secretary on 13 June 2011.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the turnover of the
Group was approximately HK$1,118,838,000, representing
an increase of approximately 36.16% as compared to
approximately HK$821,662,000 of last year. The increase in
turnover was mainly due to the staggering growth in demand
from the customers of the FPC business and the flexible
packaging substrates business, which resulted in significant
increase in the sales of FPC and flexible packaging substrates.
As the gross profit margin for the FPC business decreased due
to the decrease in price of the FPC products and the increase
in price of raw materials, the overall gross profit margin for the
year decreased to approximately 19.68% (2016: approximately
21.33%).

Profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2017 was approximately HK$79,016,000,
while profit attributable to owners of the Company in 2016
was approximately HK$27,944,000, representing an increase of
approximately 182.76%. The significant increase in profit was
mainly due to the significant increase in the sales volume of
both of the FPC business and the flexible packaging substrates
business. The cumulative revenue from the FPC business and
the flexible packaging substrates business of the Group for the
year recorded a year-on-year growth of approximately 34.58%
and 153.93% respectively. During the year under review, gross
profit margin for FPC business decreased to approximately
20.31% (2016: approximately 22.39%) due to the decrease in
FPC product price and the increase in price of raw materials,
while gross profit margin for flexible packaging substrates
business increased to approximately 13.95% (2016: 2.57%).

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the other income
of the Group amounted to approximately HK$17,874,000,
representing an increase of approximately 18.86% as compared
with that of last year. The increase in other income was mainly
attributed to the increase in government subsidies and interest
income.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE DM

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the distribution costs
of the Group amounted to approximately HK$16,760,000,
representing an increase of approximately 5.43% as compared
with that of last year. The increase in distribution costs during
the year under review was mainly attributed to (i) the increase
in labour costs for additional labour force resulted from the
increase in sales, and (ii) the increase in transportation expense
and express fee as compared with that of last year, which were
attributable to the increase in export and sales of products.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the administrative
expenses of the Group were approximately HK$36,551,000,
representing an increase of approximately 14.75% as compared
with that of last year. The increase in administrative expenses
was mainly due to the increase in depreciation and salary
expenditure during the year under review.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the research
and development expenses of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$79,882,000, representing a decrease of
approximately 13.29% as compared with that of last year. The
decrease in research and development expenses was mainly
attributed to the completion of the main development task
for the “02" Major Project undertaken by the Group and the
on schedule completion of certain major specifications, in year
2016, which resulted in a significant decrease in the expenses
incurred for the “02"” Major Project during the year under
review.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the finance cost of the
Group amounted to approximately HK$2,850,000, representing
a decrease of approximately 45.17% as compared with that of
last year. The significant decrease in finance cost was mainly
due to the significant decrease in bank borrowings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and
sale of FPC, flexible packaging substrates and their respective
components, which are used in electronic products.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the turnover of
the Group amounted to approximately HK$1,118,838,000,
representing an increase of approximately 36.16% as compared
to approximately HK$821,662,000 of 2016. The increase in
turnover was mainly due to the staggering growth in demand
from the customers of the FPC business and the flexible
packaging substrates business, which resulted in significant
increase in the sales of FPC and flexible packaging substrates.
During the year under review, the turnover of the Group for
the sales of FPC and the sales of flexible packaging substrates
were approximately HK$1,048,429,000 and HK$49,789,000
respectively, while the turnover for sales of FPC and the
sales of flexible packaging substrates for the year ended 31
December 2016 were approximately HK$779,019,000 and
HK$19,607,000 respectively. In 2017, the profit attributable
to the owners of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$79,016,000, representing an increase of approximately
182.76% as compared with approximately HK$27,944,000
in 2016. The significant increase in profit was mainly due to
significant increase in the sales volume of both of the FPC
business and the flexible packaging substrates business.

During the year under review, the turnover for the FPC business
of the Group increased by approximately 34.58% as compared
with that of last year, while its gross profit margin decreased
to approximately 20.31% (2016: approximately 22.39%)
due to the decrease in FPC product price and the increase in
price of raw materials. The turnover for the flexible packaging
substrates business increased significantly by approximately
153.93% as compared with that of last year, while its gross
profit margin increased to approximately 13.95% (2016:
approximately 2.57%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE DM

The Group has proactively reduced and adjusted the trading
business of electronic components since 2015 in order to
minimize the risks of its trading business. Since 2016, the
trading business of electronic components no longer had a
material impact on the Group’s business development and
business risks. During the year under review, the Group
entered into an equity transfer agreement with a buyer for the
disposal of its 75% equity interests in Giant Rise Technology
Limited (“Giant Rise”), a then subsidiary of the Group, and the
disposal was completed in May 2017. The buyer is the ultimate
shareholder of the non-controlling shareholder that holds 25%
equity interest in Giant Rise. Giant Rise and its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Shenzhen Giant Rise Electronics Company Limited,
were the principal operating entities for the Group’s business
of sourcing and sale of electronic components. The business
of sourcing and sale of electronic components is no longer
regarded as one of the Group’s principal activities upon the
completion of the disposal. In view of the relatively insignificant
revenue contributed by the Group’s business other than FPC
and flexible packaging substrates business that should be
included in turnover in accordance with applicable accounting
standards, all revenue from the business of sourcing and sale
of electronic components is now classified under the category
of “Other”
revenue from the business of sourcing and sale of electronic

. During the year under review, the Group’s

components was appropriately HK$20,620,000, accounting for
approximately 1.84% of the Group's total sales.

During the year under review, the Group entered into an
equity transfer agreement with an independent third party
for the disposal of 70% equity interests in New Career
Guangzhou Electronics Company Limited (“New Career”).
New Career was engaged in the manufacture and sale of an
optional component of flexible packaging substrate since 2013.
However, due to its product structure adjustment, New Career
has gradually transformed the application of its major products
which become no longer widely adoptable by the Group in
recent years. Hence, the Group reduced its investment in New
Career by the said disposal which was completed on 17 May
2017. The Group retains 30% equity interests in New Career
after completion of the said disposal and New Career became
an associate of the Group on the same date.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE DN

During the year under review, the Group continued to
implement the strategy of “developing major customers and
focusing on principal businesses”, with better results achieved
in the strategy of developing major customers, as the sales to
major customers recorded significant growth. Meanwhile, the
Group adjusted the structure of its principal activities, and has

further optimized the Group’s business structure.

During the year under review, the staggering growth in
demand from domestic customers resulted in a significant
growth in the sales of FPC business of the Group as compared
with that of last year,
positive effects gradually achieved by the Group’s strategy for
developing major customers, the increased order levels from
major customers, as well as the gradual realisation of the

which was mainly attributable to

benefit of economy of scale. The sales of flexible packaging
substrates business of the Group also recorded a significant
growth as compared with that of last year, and gross profit
margin of the business also improved. This was mainly due
to the relatively good progress attained in acquiring new
customers. Nevertheless, economies of scale for the flexible
packaging substrate business is yet to be achieved due to the
significant upfront investments incurred and the high level of
fixed costs and staff costs. There is still relatively large room for
improvement for the flexible packaging substrate business.

During the year under review, the Group’s investment
in research and development decreased. The research
and development expenses decreased to approximately
HK$79,882,000, representing a decrease of approximately
13.29% as compared with that of last year. The decrease in
research and development expenses was mainly attributed
to the completion of the main development tasks for the
“02" Major Project undertaken by the Group and the on
schedule completion of certain major specifications in year
2016, which resulted in a significant decrease in the expense
incurred for the “02” Major Project during the year under
review. In the meantime, due to the continuous increase of
new application fields of FPC and flexible packaging substrates
and the continuous uplift of requirements in product structure
and complexity by downstream customers, the Group will
continue to increase investment in research and development
to continuously uplift technology standard and technical
capability, to conduct research and development in new
materials, new products and new production techniques and
automation transformation in equipment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE DM

On 6 December 2016, the Company (for itself and on behalf of
its subsidiaries) and GoerTek Inc (“GoerTek”, for itself and on
behalf of its subsidiaries) entered into the Renewed Purchase
Agreement (“Renewed Purchase Agreement”) in relation to
the transactions for selling of parts, components and other
products (including but not limited to FPC products) for a
term commenced from 1 January 2017 and expiring on 31
December 2019. Such transactions constituted non-exempt
continuing connected transactions of the Company under
the Listing Rules. The Renewed Purchase Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder, as well as the annual
caps for each of the year ending 31 December 2017, 31
December 2018 and 31 December 2019 were approved by
the independent shareholders at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 16 January 2017. Details of
the terms of the Renewed Purchase Agreement, the continuing
connected transactions and the annual caps were disclosed in
the Company’s announcement dated 6 December 2016 and
the circular dated 29 December 2016. During the year under
review, the Group sold FPC and flexible packaging substrates
products of approximately RMB103,988,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$120,009,000) to GoerTek and its
subsidiaries, representing an increase of approximately 32.14%
as compared with that of last year (2016: approximately
RMB77,735,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$90,822,000)).

On 13 March 2017, the Company completed the issue
of 246,867,500 rights shares (“Rights Shares”) to the
qualifying shareholders by way of rights (“Rights Issue”),
at the subscription price of HK$0.55 per Rights Share.
The net proceeds of the Rights Issue was approximately
HK$133,506,000. Details of the Rights Issue were disclosed
in the Company’s announcements dated 25 January 2017, 9
February 2017 and 13 March 2017 as well as the prospectus
dated 20 February 2017.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWE DN

On 29 November 2017,
subscription agreement with Alpha Luck Industrial Limited

the Company entered into a

("Alpha Luck”), the controlling shareholder of the Company,
and a subscription agreement with Suzhou Anjie Technology
Co. Ltd ("Anjie Technology”), respectively, pursuant to which
Alpha Luck and Anjie Technology respectively subscribed
for 103,900,000 shares and 200,000,000 shares at the
subscription price of HK$1.50 per share (collectively the
“Subscriptions”). The Subscriptions were simultaneously
completed on 30 January 2018. The net proceeds of the
Subscriptions of approximately HK$454,928,000 is scheduled to
be utilised for: (i) construction of a new intelligent factory for
FPC (“New Factory”) and the establishment of new production
lines in the New Factory; (ii) expanding the production
capacities and enhancing production capabilities of the Group’s
existing production plant of FPC products by acquiring new
machineries and continuously improving and developing
production techniques through research and development; (iii)
enhancement of production capacities and capabilities of the
Group’s flexible packaging substrates products by acquiring
new machineries and continuously improving and developing
production techniques through research and development
and (iv) general working capital of the Group. Details of the
Subscriptions were disclosed in the Company’s announcements
dated 29 November 2017, 9 January 2018 and 30 January 2018
and the circular dated 20 December 2017.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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OUTLOOK

The Group has become an authorised supplier for a number
of world-renowned manufacturers. To meet the requirements
of the supply chain system of such customers, the Group has
established two production bases: Southern China Guangzhou
Factory and Eastern China Suzhou Factory. The Group has
also established sales centre, research and development
centre, supply chain management department, etc. which are
independent from the production system. With the gradual
uplift of technology capabilities, production capability and scale
of FPC business and flexible packaging substrates business, the
Group’s capability to satisfy the “one-stop demand” of such
customers has also been largely improved.

Following the stable enhancement in the Group’s capability to
serve major international customers, the Group is confident
to maintain a reasonable customer structure through market
exploration and to improve the share of supply to its major
customers. Following the Group’s continuous increase of
investment in the new application fields of FPC and flexible
packaging substrates and the foreseeable achievement in the
research and development of the production technologies, the
Group is confident to face the dramatic changes in the market,
seize the market opportunities and to continuously improve the
operation conditions of FPC and flexible packaging substrates.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group financed its operations primarily with internally
generated funds from operating activities and existing bank
facilities. It is anticipated that the Group has sufficient working
capital to meet its present funding requirements. As at 31
December 2017, the outstanding loan balance for the Group
was approximately HK$67,976,000.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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EMPLOYEE

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had a total of 1,350
full-time employees based in Hong Kong and China (2016:
1,280 employees). For the year ended 31 December 2017, the
total labor costs (including Director’'s remuneration) for the
Group amounted to approximately HK$121,797,000 (2016:
approximately HK$106,042,000). The Group determines and
reviews the remunerations of its Directors and employees
based on their respective qualifications, experiences,
performances and the market rates, so as to maintain the
remuneration of the Directors and employees at a competitive
level. The Group participates in various defined contribution
retirement plans and insurance schemes in compliance with
the statutory obligations under the laws and regulations of
China and Hong Kong. The Directors believe that being one
of the most important assets of the Group, employees are
important contributors to the success of the Group. The Group
appreciates the importance of staff training, therefore, regular
trainings are provided to the employees to enhance their
technical and product knowledge. The majority of the Group’s
employees are stationed in China.

MATERIAL INVESTMENT

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any
material investments during the year ended 31 December 2017.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM RIGHTS ISSUE

On 13 March 2017, the Company completed the issue of
246,867,500 Rights Shares to the qualifying shareholders by
way of rights at the subscription price of HK$0.55 per Rights
Share. The net proceeds of the Rights Issue were approximately
HK$133,506,000. As of 31 December 2017, approximately
HK$118,200,000 of the net proceeds of the Rights Issue had
been utilised, among which: (i) approximately HK$96,600,000
was utilised for the development of the Group’s flexible
packaging substrates business; and (ii) approximately
HK$21,600,000 was utilised for the general working capital of
the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On 29 November 2017, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement with Alpha Luck, the controlling
shareholder of the Company, and a subscription agreement
with Anjie Technology, respectively, pursuant to which
Alpha Luck and Anjie Technology respectively subscribed for
103,900,000 shares and 200,000,000 shares (collectively
“Subscriptions”) at the subscription price of HK$1.50 per
share. The Subscriptions were simultaneously completed on
30 January 2018 and the net proceeds were approximately
HK$454,928,000. Details of the Subscriptions were disclosed
in the Company’s announcements dated 29 November 2017, 9
January 2018 and 30 January 2018 as well as the circular dated
20 December 2017.

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no other important
events affecting the Group that have occurred since 31
December 2017 and up to the date of this report.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Save for (i) the disposal of 70% equity interests in New Career,
a then wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group; and (ii) the
disposal of 75% equity interests in Giant Rise, a then subsidiary
of the Group, the Group did not have any material acquisitions
or disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during
the year ended 31 December 2017.

FUTURE PLANS RELATING TO MATERIAL
INVESTMENT OR PURCHASE OF CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any
future plans for material investment or purchase of capital asset
as at 31 December 2017.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS OF THE GROUP

As at 31 December 2017, bank deposits of approximately
HK$2,357,000 (as at 31 December 2016: approximately
HK$2,356,000) of the Group were pledged as collateral to
secure bank facilities granted to the Group. Trade receivables
of approximately HK$22,948,000 were pledged as collateral to
secure bank facilities granted to the Group (as at 31 December
2016: approximately HK$8,677,000).

As at 31 December 2017, land use rights and buildings
with carrying amounts of approximately HK$17,551,000
and HK$53,212,000 respectively (as at 31 December 2016:
approximately HK$16,818,000 and HK$51,171,000) were
pledged to secure the general bank facilities granted to the
Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2017.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2017, the net cash and cash equivalents
of the Group amounted to approximately HK$89,288,000.
As at 31 December 2017, the gearing ratio of the Group was
approximately 41.78% (as at 31 December 2016: approximately
50.69%), which was calculated based on the Group’s total
liabilities of approximately HK$529,973,000 (as at 31 December
2016: HK$497,594,000) and the Group’s total assets of
approximately HK$1,268,416,000 (as at 31 December 2016:
HK$981,651,000).
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EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE
RATES

The income and expenditure of the Group are mainly
denominated in US dollars and RMB, while the assets and
liabilities of the Group are denominated in HK dollars and RMB.
The Group is therefore exposed to foreign exchange risk arising
from currency exposures, primarily with respect to US dollars
and RMB. The operating results and the financial position of
the Group may be affected by any changes in the exchange
rates, the Group has not taken any hedging measures in this
regard. Furthermore, the conversion of RMB denominated
balances into foreign currencies is subject to the foreign
exchange control rules and regulations promulgated by the
Chinese government. However, taking into account the Group's
current operation and capital requirements, the Directors
do not consider the Group is subject to any material foreign
exchange risk.

DIVIDEND

The Directors recommend the payment of final dividend of HK1
cent per share for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016:
nil) to the shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members of the Company on Friday, 8 June 2018. Subject
to the approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting (the “AGM"), the proposed final dividend is
expected to be paid on or around Wednesday, 20 June 2018.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
6 June 2018 to 8 June 2018 (both days inclusive) during
which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to
qualify for the final dividend, all properly completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on 5 June
2018.
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CLOSURE OF SHARE REGISTER FOR ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
22 May 2018 to 28 May 2018 (both days inclusive) for the
purposes of determining shareholder’s eligibility to attend
and vote at the AGM and during which no transfer of shares
will be effected. To be qualified to attend the AGM, which is
to be held on 28 May 2018, all properly completed transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s share registrar and transfer office,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong by no later than 4:30 p.m. on 21
May 2018.
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INTRODUCTION

Save for the deviations as disclosed in this report, the
Company complied with all the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (collectively “Code”) contained
in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules by establishing formal and
transparent procedures to protect and maximize the interests of
shareholders during the year under review.

As Mr. Zhao Xiao did not seek for renewal of his appointment
as an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of
remuneration committee, a member of the audit committee
and a member of the nomination committee upon the expiry
of his term on 15 February 2018, the number of independent
non-executive Directors and the number of members of the
audit committee of the Company fell below the minimum
number required under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.21 of the Listing
Rules respectively since 16 February 2018. Further, the position
of the chairman of the remuneration committee is vacant,
and the requirement that the remuneration committee should
comprise a majority of independent non-executive Directors
under Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules could not be complied with
since 16 February 2018. The requirement of Code Provision
A.5.1 that the nomination committee should comprise a
majority of independent non-executive Directors also could not
be complied with. The Company is in the course of identifying
a suitable candidate to fill the vacancies as soon as possible
and in any event within three months from 16 February 2018
pursuant to Rules 3.11, 3.23 and 3.27 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less favorable
than the standard of dealings as set out in Appendix 10 of the
Model Code of the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry
on all Directors, it is confirmed that the Directors have complied
with such code of conduct and the standard of dealings
regarding securities transactions throughout the year ended 31
December 2017.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND BOARD MEETING

During the year under review, the Board consisted of 2
executive Directors and 6 non-executive Directors of whom 3
were independent non-executive Directors:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng (Chairman)

Mr. Chai Zhi Qiang (Chief Executive Officer; retired from his
directorship on 26 May 2017)

Non-executive Directors:

Ms. Li Ying Hong

Mr. Gao Xiaoguang

Mr. Jia Junan

(Note: Mr. Wang Chunsheng was appointed on 30 January
2018)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew

Mr. Zhao Xiao (term of office expired on 15 February 2018)
Mr. Cui Zheng

The Board is responsible for the Group’s corporate policy
formulation, business strategy planning, business development,
risk management, major acquisitions, disposals and capital
transactions, and other significant operational and financial
matters. Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated
by the Board to the management include the preparation of
annual and interim accounts for the Board’'s approval before
reporting to the public, execution of business strategies and
initiatives adopted by the Board, implementation of adequate
systems of internal control and risk management procedures,
and compliance with relevant statutory requirements, rules
and regulations. During the year under review, the Board and
its audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee have performed corporate governance duties in
accordance with the functions set out in the Code Provision
D.3.1.
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Details of backgrounds and qualifications of the chairman,
other Directors, and chief executive officer of the Company are
set out on pages 8 to 14 of this annual report. All Directors
have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Group. Each executive Director has sufficient experience to
hold the position so as to carry out his duties effectively and
efficiently. There is no relationship among the members of the
Board.

During the year under review, all independent non-executive
Directors had appropriate and sufficient experience and
qualifications to carry out their duties to protect the interests
of shareholders. Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew, Mr. Zhao Xiao
and Mr. Cui Zheng were independent non-executive Directors.
Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew was appointed since 17 October
2011 and his appointment was renewed for a term of three
years commenced from 17 October 2017. Mr. Zhao Xiao was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director for a term
of three years commenced from 16 February 2015. Due to his
other business commitments, Mr. Zhao did not seek for renewal
of his appointment as an independent non-executive Director
upon expiration of his term of office on 15 February 2018.
Mr. Cui Zheng was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director for a term of three years commenced from 3 May
2016. All of them are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the annual general meeting in accordance with
the Company’s articles of association.

Under the Code Provision A.4.2, every Director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules, the Company
has received written confirmation from each independent
non-executive Director confirming his independence to the
Company. Based on such confirmations of independence, the
Company considers all the independent non-executive Directors
to be independent.

During the year under review, Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng was
the chairman and Mr. Chai Zhi Qiang was the chief executive
officer. Whilst Mr. Chai Zhi Qiang retired from his directorship
on 26 May 2017, he remains as the chief executive officer of
the Company.
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The roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer were
segregated and were not exercised by the same individual
during the year under review. The chairman’s responsibility was
to manage the Board while the chief executive officer's was to
manage the business of the Company.

The Board held a full board meeting each quarter.

Details of the Directors’ attendance of the meetings of the
members of the Board during the year under review are as

REBEFER » £FRITREK 2B AME
7 WHHE-—AEE - TEZBRERERE
T MITRARIBAEREEARRZER -

pa
EXe8FTUERTERKEBIIFESE -

EXgNEENBEFEALEESEEER 2L
SRFBMNT

follows:

Attendance
Director B= HE R
Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng ARIF & 5t A4 4/4
Mr. Chai Zhi Qiang (retired on 26 May 2017) 405 E (RZE—+HFAAZ+/NHRE) 2/4
Ms. Li Ying Hong FHRAT L 4/4
Mr. Gao Xiaoguang SEXEE 4/4
Mr. Jia Junan EFwhE 4/4
Mr. Wang Chunsheng FEERE RZZE-N\F-A=THEZHF)

(appointed on 30 January 2018) 0/4
Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew HERELE 4/4
Mr. Zhao Xiao HELE (FPRR=E—N\F-ATHABER)

(term of office expired on

15 February 2018) 4/4
Mr. Cui Zheng BEEFRA 4/4
Apart from the above regular board meetings of the year, the R ELMFRNFTHESTT RN EFTXNEH

members of the Board will meet on other occasions when a
board-level decision on a particular matter is required. The
Directors will receive agenda and details of items for decision in
advance of each board meeting.
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CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

During the year under review, the Company provided training
on matters related to rights issue and share subscription under
the Listing Rules for all its Directors in relation to the Rights
Issue in early 2017 and the subscription of shares in late 2017,
all Directors had complied with the requirements set out in
the Code Provision A.6.5 by participating in the continuous
professional development, developing and refreshing their
knowledge and skills, in order to ensure that their contribution
to the Board would remain informed and relevant.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the audit committee with written
terms of reference in accordance with Rules 3.21 to 3.23 of
the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the audit committee
are to review and monitor the financial reporting process,
risk management and internal control systems of the Group
and provide advice and comments on the Company’s draft
of annual reports and accounts and half-year reports. During
the year under review, the audit committee comprised of
three members, namely Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew, Mr. Zhao
Xiao and Mr. Cui Zheng. All of them were independent
non-executive Directors. The chairman of the audit committee
was Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew. As the term of office of
Mr. Zhao Xiao expired on 15 February 2018 and he did not
seek for renewal of his appointment as a member of the audit
committee with effect from 16 February 2018, the number
of members of the audit committee fell below the minimum
number required under Rules 3.21 of the Listing Rules since 16
February 2018. The Company is in the course of identifying a
suitable candidate to fill the vacancy as soon as possible and in
any event within three months from 16 February 2018 pursuant
to Rule 3.23 of the Listing Rules.
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CEFEANBRITORGE - B
SR ZHFECHEFABET

During the year under review, four meetings were held by the EZZEER
audit committee. Details of the Directors’ attendance of the ZE=
audit committee meetings are as follows:

Attendance
Director BE=E iR E
Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew HEREAE a/4
Mr. Zhao Xiao BEAE(EHR=_T—N\E_A+RBER)
(term of office expired on
15 February 2018) 4/4
Mr. Cui Zheng EfFiE 4/4

The Group’s unaudited interim results and audited annual ZAEBEHZE-_ZT—+F+_A=+—HIFE

results for the year ended 31 December 2017 had been ZARBZPHREALRKLEZEZFREDH

reviewed by the audit committee, which was of the opinion BEHZZEE®EHNH BEXZZEERR %REXE

EREFEARAERE  EEHRESD

>1

]
DH

that the preparation of such results complied with the J3#&f&

i

applicable accounting standards and requirements and that HFE o
adequate disclosures were made.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FMEES

The remuneration committee was established in August 2005 HMZEE@R —TTRF/N\AKY - L HEH
with written terms of reference. During the year under review, = HBEHLE -NEBEFERN FMHEZEEMH
the remuneration committee comprised of three members. =ZKEBHEX  ZEEXFRA/BUIFNTES

Mr. Zhao Xiao, an independent non-executive Director, HMBESEE HMEBE/FTRAL L REFL
was the chairman of the committee. Other members of the £ R KIMHKESBILIFATES - AR
remuneration committee included Ms. Li Ying Hong and HBREALLENEHR-_"FT-NF_A+HBE
Mr. Cui Zheng. Accordingly, the majority of the members were W ¥ B -ZF—N\F - A+ BRI HETH
independent non-executive Directors. As the term of office of @Mé,\ exXfE Bt -—Z—-N\FZA+<H

Mr. Zhao Xiao expired on 15 February 2018 and he was no FEEexR —BEE L/USZ?EFJ&LH
longer the chairman of the remuneration committee with effect %ﬁﬂ'J%B.ZSM%ﬁ@H?E@@ DKEER

from 16 February 2018, the position of the chairman of the WM IFMITEREZHRE - AR _JEEJ__E%@EJE
remuneration committee has been vacant and the requirement A PAZE IR & M i a0 AT AR ¥% | 77 4R R 58 3.27 1%
that the remuneration committee should comprise a majority R-F—N\F_A+XAEF=EAREHE
of independent non-executive Directors under Rule 3.25 of the BIZE iR °

Listing Rules could not be met since 16 February 2018. The

Company is in the course of identifying a suitable candidate to

fill the vacancies as soon as possible and in any event within

three months from 16 February 2018 pursuant to Rule 3.27 of

the Listing Rules.
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The role and function of the remuneration committee include
the determination of specific remuneration packages of all
executive Directors, including benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, such as any compensation
payable for appointment or loss of office, and the provision
of recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors. The remuneration committee should
consider factors such as salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors,
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group and feasibility
of performance-based remuneration.

FHEE e R ERETERBUTESTZE
EHMES  MmEYF S  BRKRENRMEE -
BEBEBRIABME UALHMERTEZZH
HREFeRHUER FTHZESGEEEZE
BEZEE IEALBRAMNES EFM
BINEMEE AREARBGRGRIZRE
BB 2 A ITIE

During the year under review, two meetings were held by the REEBEFERN G FWHEZESHBTMIeH -
remuneration committee. Details of the Directors’ attendance BBE=HEHFMEZESSE 2L FBUOT
at the remuneration committee meetings are as follows:
Attendance

Director Ex R E
Mr. Zhao Xiao HELE(FHR - \F-_A+HHBER)

(term of office expired on

15 February 2018) 2/2
Ms. Li Ying Hong FERAT 2+ 2/2
Mr. Cui Zheng BTt 2/2

The remuneration committee of the Company has considered
and reviewed the existing terms of employment contracts of
the executive Directors and those of appointment letters of
the independent non-executive Directors. The remuneration
committee of the Company considers that the existing terms
of employment contracts of the executive Directors and
appointment letters of the independent non-executive Directors
are fair and reasonable.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee was established on 22 March 2012
with written terms of reference. During the year under review,
the nomination committee comprised of three members.
The chairman of the committee was Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng.
Other members included Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew and
Mr. Zhao Xiao. Accordingly, the majority of the members were
independent non-executive Directors. As the term of office of
Mr. Zhao Xiao expired on 15 February 2018 and he ceased to
be a member of the nomination committee with effect from
16 February 2018, the requirement of Code Provision A.5.1
that the nomination committee should comprise a majority of
independent non-executive Directors could not be met since 16
February 2018. The Company is in the course of identifying a
suitable candidate to fill the vacancy as soon as possible and in
any event within three months from 16 February 2018.

The nomination committee shall review the structure, size
and composition of the Board (including skills, knowledge,
experience, past performance and qualification, etc.) and assess
the independence of independent non-executive Directors and
the adequacy of Corporate Governance Code. The committee
is responsible for formulating nomination policy, identifying
candidates for Directors and making recommendations to
the Board in respect of the nomination, appointment or
reappointment of Directors and succession plan of Directors.

The Company acknowledges that the diversification of the
members of the Board has positive effects on enhancing the
Group's performance. The Company sees the diversification of
the members of the Board as an important supporting factor
for the Group to achieve its strategic goals and maintain
sustainable growth. In deciding the composition of the Board,
the Company will consider the Board diversity from various
perspectives, including but not limited to sex, age, cultural
and academic background, race, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and terms of services. All appointments of
the Board are made on merits with objective consideration of
candidates, while taking into full account of the benefits of
the Board’s diversity. The nomination committee reviews the
diversity of the composition of the Board on regular basis, and
monitors the implementation of this policy so as to ensure its
effective implementation.

Annual Report 2017

—E—LEEH

REEZES

ZEZF=AZTZHKI -
WHITHERBESDE - REBEEFEAN - BB
ZESH-_HAKEHEN ZESTEFEARIEE
fECHMKNBEALAERLERBEELE - B
WREDKE RBIUNITES - HREREL
ERABRR_ZE-N\F_A+HAEM TA
TE-NFZATABBRTHETREEZED
KE AE TN NF-A+HREKEE
BFRIFEASIMEERKIREZZEEABOKE
BARBUFNTEFZHTE - ARABREDE
BHEANEBUBRBREERVANR=_Z—NFE_A
TARBRH=@EANEMBHAER -

REZBER
=

REZEEFRIEFTENRE  ABREK
(BHERE M@ &% TEREEEIE)
MBI ATEST BN ERALEE
ATRZEAE  YABRIFIREBERDE
BEFAE PEFZRA ZEXEHNZIN
REFECIFENESSIFHERES -

ARBABEFEXNB ST H R QAR
REEHRERZ - ARABREEFEKERARS
LA FEEINBRERERERARFERR
LBER - ARAERTEEEKNEHEER &
fRzETEEERESTEXREZ T BEED
RAAMER - Fie XEREEES Bk X
R B ABERBEH -E=EME
ZEHURABES SRA - LATBGREZE
A& FARERVBENEZTENEZ TENE
moRELBREREMRINESTEEZ TILE
2 AR B RABER ZTT - AERANBUR
TZBR -

35



36

AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEF E% 5 R 2 7

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

‘A
AEIERHRSE
During the year under review, one meeting was held by the REIEFEER  BELE8&H BT &5 -
nomination committee. Details of the Directors’ attendance at B2EHFIRELZE R 2 OHABOT
the nomination committee meeting are as follows:
Attendance

Director BE=E R E
Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng BB IE % 4 1/1
Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew HEERLAE 1/1
Mr. Zhao Xiao HEEE(FH "S- \F-A+HEAER)

(term of office expired on

15 February 2018) 11
The nomination committee considered and resolved that all the REBEZECZERZARAMEAQRABIEER
existing Directors should be recommended to be retained by fEEE o
the Company.
AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION % BB B £

The audit committee of the Company was responsible for
considering the appointment of external auditor and reviewing
any non-audit functions performed by the external auditor,
including whether such non-audit functions could lead to any
potential material adverse effect on the Company. During the
year under review, the Group was required to pay an aggregate
amount of approximately HK$860,000 to the external auditor
for their audit service and HK$325,800 for non-audit services
including reporting accountants’ work on right issues, taxation
and other services.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities for the
preparation of accounts, and confirmed that the financial
statements of the Company were prepared in accordance with
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, and having made all reasonable
enquiries, they are not aware of any undisclosed material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions which may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a

going concern.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Hung Ching Yuen was appointed as the company secretary
on 13 June 2011. Ms.
service provider to the Company and a solicitor practising in

Hung Ching Yuen is an external

Hong Kong. She has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training as required by the Listing Rules. The
primary contact person between the Company and Ms. Hung
Ching Yuen is Mr. Jiang Maoping, officer responsible for
compliance and legal matters.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Company conducts regular reviews on its internal control
system and risk management procedure to ensure their
effectiveness and adequacy. The Company convenes meetings
compliance

periodically to discuss financial, operational,

and risk management control. The purpose of the Group’s
internal risk management control and procedure is to provide
reasonable assurance against material misstatement or loss
and to manage and eliminate risks of failure in operational
systems. Through the audit committee, the Board has reviewed
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and is of the
opinion that the resources for and the qualifications of the staff
of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function
are adequate and sufficient. The Board is satisfied with present

internal control.

AUDITOR

During the year under review, the performance of the external
auditor of the Company was reviewed and recommendation
was made to reappoint the external auditor at the forthcoming
AGM.

Annual Report 2017

—E—LEEH

]
ol

i

T

BRIMN-_T——FNA+=BEZRER
WE - HBERTTIARRRZIIMEREA
&
It

N4
/

Ellﬂ”%

 REBRERM WO ERETRUZR
27T AR5 ENFEBEREN - &
NAAFEAFEL LT 2 T ERRARAES
MIEEREBZTEREKFELE -

D» fal ,D]]D >
\Xv

WEREE R R b B2

ARREHBREHEANREZGE K EREIER
FFo AEREKEAEED - ARBIEHERE
#oAmy 2E ARKEREEEE-
ARBZAREREREZEMEF 5 HESEBR
éﬁﬂ%ﬁf R IER - WEENERER
EBREBMEZRR EFSCEBERZE
%?ﬁWﬁB%EZEX&&$Q AT KB 15 5
BEZARERMABRERANEN EFE
HEAMAMERERIHE

R ED

REBFEAR 2@ AR ASINEZEE 2R
B UYEIERERRBFASENZERI
HE 2 BhAd -

37



38

AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEF E% 5 R 2 7

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
AREARE

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and
enhancing communication with the existing shareholders
and potential investors. The Company welcomes suggestions
from investors, stakeholders and the public. The Company
has disclosed all necessary information to the shareholders
and investors in compliance with the Listing Rules and uses
a number of formal communications channels to report the
Company’s performance to shareholders and investors. These
include (1) the publication of announcements and notices,
financial information and corporate governance information
available on the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited and the Company; (2) the annual general meeting
or extraordinary general meeting which provide a forum for
shareholders of the Company to raise comments and exchange
views with the Board; (3) information@akmcompany.com, an
email specifically set up by the Company for communications
with investors, which provides timely replies to the enquires
from investors; (4) the provision of services for shareholders
through the Company’s registered office and share registrar in
Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no significant change in the Memorandum and
Articles of Association of the Company during the year ended
31 December 2017.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Pursuant to Articles 65 of the Company’s Memorandum and
Articles of Association, the Directors may, whenever they
think fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting. An
extraordinary general meeting shall also be convened upon
request by shareholders of the Company as provided by the
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) of the Laws of Hong Kong
("Companies Ordinance”), or, in default, may be convened by
the shareholders requesting the convening of an extraordinary
general meeting.
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According to Sections 566 to 568 of the Companies Ordinance,
the Directors are required to call an extraordinary general
meeting if the Company has received requests to do so from
shareholders of the Company representing at least 5% of the
total voting rights of all the shareholders having a right to vote
at general meetings. Shareholders of the Company may deposit
at the registered office of the Company a written request,
which shall state the general nature of the business to be dealt
with at the meeting and include the text of the resolution
to be proposed at the meeting, and shall be signed by the
shareholders who made the demand. Where the Directors do
not, within 21 days from the date of depositing the demand,
duly arrange an extraordinary general meeting to be held
on a day not later than 28 days after the date on which the
notice convening the meeting is given, the shareholders who
made the demand or shareholders representing more than
half of the voting rights of such shareholders may convene an
extraordinary general meeting themselves in the same manner,
as nearly as possible, as that in which extraordinary general
meetings may be convened by the Directors of the Company,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the shareholders who
made the request as a result of the failure of the Directors
to duly convene an extraordinary general meeting shall be
reimbursed by the Company.

There is no provision allowing shareholders to move new
resolutions at general meetings under the Articles of
Association of the Company or the Companies Ordinance.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene an extraordinary general meeting by
following the procedure set out in the preceding paragraph.

In relation to proposing a person for election as a Director,
please refer to the procedure available on the website of the
Company.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board in writing to the Company’s registered office in
Hong Kong at Rooms 2708-11, 27th Floor, West Tower, Shun
Tak Centre, 168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong.
Shareholders may also send such enquiries and concerns to
information@akmcompany.com, an email specifically set up by
the Company for investor communications.
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The Group is pleased to present its Environmental, Social and
Governance Report which is prepared in accordance with the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide”
contained in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). This report focuses
on the performance of corporate social responsibility of the
Group during the period from 1 January 2017 to 31 December
2017. The Group is committed to improving its strategy
and management in relation to environment, society and
governance through enhancement of infrastructure, internal
participation and external partnership to achieve a balanced
and win-win situation between interests of shareholders and
the society.

STAKEHOLDERS' PARTICIPATION

The Group has established a number of channels to allow
related institutions and individuals in the society (the
“Stakeholders”) to participate in the Group’s operations so as
to understand and oversee the Group’s operating performance.
We are committed to creating a harmonious community with
various common interests, thus maximizing the overall social
benefits including the corporate benefits. Stakeholders can
participate in the operation of the Company through the
following means:

HtERE
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Channels and means

Stakeholders
EEFEEA

Key targets and
interests

TEEERBER

of communication
and participation

BE2EIANEE

Company’s measures

D EERE

Shareholders and
investors

BRMIEEE

Protection of
shareholders’ interests,
truthful, accurate and
timely disclosure of

information.
R EDRE B
BEET - ER- R

Shareholders’ meetings,
investor enquiries and
site visits, disclosure of
information (including
financial statements)
and contact information
of the Company.

BRAR - A
MERE  ANRE (A
BEE)  DABES

= o
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Publication of notifications and
resolutions of the shareholders'
meetings and disclosure of
information of the Company

in accordance with rules and
regulations; organization of various
investor activities; publication of the
Company's contact information on
the Company's website and reports,
and assuring all communication
channels are smooth and
unobstructed.
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Key targets and

Channels and means
of communication

Stakeholders interests and participation Company’s measures
EEEFEEA TEEERBEIH BESRLTANESR YNGR
Employees Protection of basic Workers union, Establishment of workers union to
BT rights, compensation communication provide workers with a platform to
and benefits, work channels between communicate; payment of salaries
environment, employees and and benefits in full and on time;
development and management, opinion payment of social security insurance
promotion and boxes, staff activities, in accordance with law; provision of
occupational health and  training and education. a healthy and safe work environment;
safety. T&€ BTHEEIEERE establishment of a fair promotion
EXERE BN BEB ERM -BI  mechanism; cared about our
BHAFSE - TIERIE - 3% &8 - BilEEE - employees, organization of employee
RER BERREY activities, trainings and learning
e activities.
RITeH8 REEIXRTE
N R BB M EH AR - FORBMIL
gRE RHEER ZE2OIERE:
BUNFHERES  BEET @
BE TR IBIIEHEE -
Customers Guarantee of the Regular visits and Strengthening of quality control,
®P product quality and maintain daily assurance of steady production and
qguantity, long-term and ~ communication smooth logistic process; provision
stable co-operation. FHFED  REB®E  of adequate products; entering into
EnmEMBEREZ B long term sales agreements with
RHBEAE- customers.
MmEmBEER  RIFEEBTHNER
B RHEEEM  RIIRBWE -
Government Lawful operations, Site visits, inspections, Conducting operation in accordance
g5 payment of tax in work conference with the law; compliance

accordance with the
law, production safety,
fulfillment of social
responsibility.

BIERE  KOEWNT
TREE BITHEER
T

and discussion, work
reports, submissions
and approvals
RSEHRE - wE - ITE
gEMH - TE®RS
WX - wHE o
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management, payment of tax

in accordance with the law;
strengthening of the Company's
safety management; acceptance of
government supervision, inspection
and examination in accordance with
regulations, active commitment to
social responsibilities.

BEKE  BREE FKOEMT M
BARREER HBRATEIERTR
REE BERRSER  BRAE
HEgEME-
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Key targets and
interests

TEEERBER

Stakeholders
EEEEA

Channels and means
of communication
and participation

BESRLFANEE

Company’s measures

DEERE

Suppliers and
contractors

HER - ABH

Fair bidding, long-term
stable co-operation and
timely payment.
1B - IR o

Community and Job opportunities,

the public community
@ E AR development,

protection of ecological
environment,
compensation and
assistance.

MERE HEER-
REARRE AR

Public bidding meetings
and business meetings,
daily communications
REBEH ARE

AR E
HE&E® -

Co-hosting of
community activities,
charity, volunteering
services and
participation in the
construction of the
community
HfttRIEE  BEE
B ERERYS H&E

Fair bidding, select by merit,
performance of contractual
obligations, strengthening of daily
communications, maintenance of
long-term cooperation with quality
suppliers and contractors.

NIRRT BEEEE BOEBTA
R g EBRR - BEEHERMN
EBERPEE-

Promotion of community building
and development, provision of
volunteer service, establishment of
communication channels for the
community and community members;
hosting of community activities,
promotion of the building of
harmonious community.

REMREZRMER RESEER

&= - XEiRg -

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group has complied with international and national
environmental standards and ensured employee’s health
and safety in production, with an aim to establish a green
and civilized environment, to enhance energy efficiency and
minimize both energy consumption and pollutant discharge
through continuous improvements of management standards.
The production factories of the Group in Guangzhou and
Suzhou have passed the certifications of ISO 9001 and
IATF16949 Quality Management System, and 1SO14001
Environmental Management System, and the Guangzhou
Factory has passed the certification of OHSAS18001
Occupational Health and Safety Management System as
well as the clean production management audit acceptance.
A three-level environmental monitoring system has been
implemented by the Group to ensure the full compliance
with the relevant national standards for different types of
pollutants. The Group also implemented an accountability
and performance appraisal system to ensure the specific
responsibilities of various levels of personnel in the execution
and management of the environmental protection system.
During the year under review, the various emission indexes of
the Group have complied fully with the relevant environmental
protection standards. No penalty in relation to the performance
of environmental protection has been imposed on the Group.
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Emissions — The Group puts best efforts to control
the amount of emissions which affects the environment,
strengthens its competence in environmental supervision
and completed the installment of online supervision device
for waste water and waste gas, in order to realize real-time
supervision and early warning of major pollution emission
source. The Group has installed an online monitoring system to
keep track of the sewage chemical oxygen demand (COD), pH
level and flow measurement, and an online monitoring system
to keep track of the total quantities of Chromium (Cr) and
Hexavalent Chromium (Cr6+) in sewage. Other facilities include
underground water detection well and surveillance cameras
installed at the discharge outlets for the instant feedback of
information. An independent third party with appropriate
qualifications has also been engaged to operate, maintain
and manage these online facilities to ensure their proper
functioning. During the period under review, the operation of
the Group’s facilities for the treatment of waste water, exhaust
gas, solid wastes and noise pollution were stable and met all
relevant inspection standards. As such, the Group is pleased
to report that it complied with national and local laws and
regulations on emission control in relation to the control of
waste gas, greenhouse gas emission, pollution in water and
land as well as generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes in 2017.
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The total amount of emissions and wastes in 2017 were as —ZE—+FHEEHREREEDESNT
follows:
(1) Emission of pollutants (1) SFFEUHEH
No. Type of pollutant Unit Total Amount Remark
o SRYER By meE fBat
1 CcOoD Tonnes 5.17 Oxidizable pollutants in waste water
tEFE= i REKFT & BHI5RY
2 Total Chromium (Cr) kg 2.64 Pollutant in waste water
5% (Cr) = REKET &5 2
3 Total Copper (Cu) Tonnes 0.04 Pollutant in waste water
4 8f (Cu) 7 BEKFTE 52
4 Total Nickel (Ni) kg * 5 Pollutant in waste water
#2452 (Ni) T= REKET & 52
5 Total Phosphorus (P) Tonnes 0.08 Pollutant in waste water
@k (P) s REK P 5 2
6 Ammoniacal Tonnes Q477 Pollutant in waste water
Nitrogen (NHs-N) i BEKFT &5 4

A (NH,-N)

7 Hydrogen Chloride Tonnes 5.47 Pollutant in waste gas
(HCD) WA BERPT 2753
LR (HC)
8 Sulfuric Acid Fog Tonnes 2.02 Pollutant in waste gas
B i BERFT &5
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(2) Quantity of greenhouse gas, waste water discharge
and solid wastes

No.
F

Indicator

EEER

Unit
B

Total Amount
HE

BERE  SKEHRBERERY

Remark

B

Total volume of
greenhouse gas
emission
BERBEERE

Volume of industrial
sewage generated

IRFKELE

Hazardous wastes

e BEEY

Non-hazardous
wastes

EEERY

Ten thousand
tonnes
= g

Ten thousand
tonnes
= g

Tonnes
L7

Tonnes
U7

1253

54.67

985.2

65
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Total emission of CO, equivalent

FRERB AR ETNE

The Company has excellent sewage
treatment facilities with sewage
treatment rate of 100%
NAA T ENISKEIERE
TEIKAEBR IR ZE X E100%

A qualified hazardous wastes treatment
company has been engaged to handle
all hazardous wastes with 100%
compliance rate in wastes treatment
EHEXTABEENERERE
BURE AHREEX100%

Non-hazardous wastes of the Company
included mainly scrap materials, used
plastic sheets and used cardboard, most
of which are recyclable
RRAEEEZYIZREAL  BERBK
KRR % - KEMp Al B Y A
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Use of resources — The Group insists on the principle of full,
reasonable and effective use of energy and makes every effort
to eliminate inefficiencies, and uses energy-saving equipment
as well as applies innovative energy saving technologies as
much as possible. The target of the energy conservation
management plan is to save energy, save resources, reduce
consumption, reduce environmental pollution and improve

EREA-TEEZRFUARTY  AERER
MAERRSERERARA  BHAENHEKE
K - A B B AR Mo FE R Al ¥ A BE
Bifr - EigE B IR ET BIAFI K BER - HOEIR -
BRIEBERE BAIRRSARESEERERRB
12 WEHBHOERRER B RER -
BMAORBFLERBEENEREMZIAER ©

economic efficiency. Multiple initiatives have been launched

for energy and resources conservation, optimization of energy

consumption, reduction of environmental pollution and

reduction of power consumption.

(1) Energy consumption

(1) BERHFE

No. Indicator Unit Quantity Remark
Fro5 EEEW By HE #t B
1 Use of electricity 10,000 kWh 4,738 The Group used only electricity as
BE 8T Rk energy source. No other energy sources
such as coal or heat were used.
REEEFERERER  BERAER
HREFHMEER
(2) Water resource consumption (2) KEFRHFE
No. Indicator Unit Quantity Remark
FF % EEER By HE w8
1 Tap water usage 10,000 tonnes 63.56 The Group used water supplied by the
BXRKAE A urban water supply plant. There were
no issues related to water consumption
or demand.
AN B fE AT B RAKE MK - KR
& A FISKE £ FE R @
2 Reclaimed water 10,000 tonnes 15.55 During the year, the use of reclaimed
usage & E water increased by 1.5% on a
FoKEBIAE year-on-year basis.

FEAMEF/KEE  BRAERLESF
FF1.5%
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Measures to mitigate emissions and results achieved

For the emissions of pollutants in waste water, the Group
has been promoting the adoption of technologies and
equipment with a high resource utilization rate and low
pollutant emission. The Group has also been enhancing
the use of reclaimed water and reducing waste water
discharge. The total amount of emissions of pollutants in
waste water in 2017 decreased by approximately 8% from
2016.

For the emissions of pollutants in waste gas, the emissions
of waste gas has been reduced by enhancing the
operational management of waste gas treatment devices.
The total amount of emissions of pollutants in waste gas in
2017 decreased by approximately 2% from 2016.

Means and measures to handle hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes and results achieved

Stringent measures are applied in the handling of
hazardous wastes and a qualified hazardous wastes
treatment company has been engaged to handle all
hazardous wastes with 100% compliance rate in wastes
treatment. Comprehensive recycling policy has been
adopted for handling general waste with a comprehensive
utilization rate of approximately 65% in 2017.
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HAEEREBNERR SRR

HRBEKPOSEMEER - NEBIE#HE
KABRMAZERS  SEMERELHT
SRR E - WP KER - E D EEKEE
W 2017 F EREKFTE S LA MEBERRE
tE20165F ER 2 498% ©

HRERPH)SLYBER - BB INRE
REEBEBENETER WIOBRER
017FEERPESEAMBERESL
2016 E R A 492% ©

EEEERBERRVWNG L  BREEFFR

BIRRETKREREY  2BETABEE
WEEREEEMNESR  aHEEEI100%
HR—MEEY  HIGRERKF AR
M - 2017 E4RE M A EL65% °
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REBE-HERE

Environment and natural resources — The Group strives
to promote environmental infrastructure and improve the
environmental management system, in order to achieve energy
conservation, reduction of emission and clean production,
and to minimize the impact of production operations on the
environment. The Group has implemented the full process
environmental management project, and introduced the
pre-EIA pilot process. The system of “Three Simultaneities”
has been implemented. That is, the design, construction and
production of environmental protection facilities as well as
the main construction project are carried out simultaneously.
For the environmental risk factors such as the emission of
“three wastes” (waste water, waste gas and solid waste) in the
production process, we carried out research and established
a multi-level risk prevention and control mechanism, and
formulated strict environmental protection measures to prevent
pollution and protect the ecological environment from the

sources of pollution.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Employment and recruitment — The Group recruits talents
based on the principle of openness, equality, competition and
merits. It provides equal opportunities to employees, creating
a fair and non-discriminatory work atmosphere. Approximately
99% of the employees of the Group are located in China and
the Group strictly observes the requirements of labor laws and
regulations of China without breaching any relevant codes or
regulations. The Group also introduces production operation
staff through professional employment agencies. The Company
treats every employee as equal. Their employment, benefits and
promotion will not be affected by social identities including
ethnic group, race, nationality, gender, religion, age, sexual
orientation, political camp and marital status.
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Health and safety — The Group upholds the core principle
of “safety first”, fosters a people-oriented culture and
promotes healthy life and safe workplace. The Group has
set safety objectives and targets in accordance with the
standard established by International Standard OHSAS18001
Occupational Safety and Health Management System
certification and regularly evaluates OHSAS to ensure
compliance with the Group’s health and safety requirements.
The Group's Guangzhou Factory has passed the certification
of OHSAS18001 Occupational Health and Safety Management
System. In addition to OHSAS, the Group has also established
a safety committee to monitor the Group’s health and safety
matters. These internal policies provide the Group with a
framework to ensure timely assessment of safety and to assess
the current manufacture process in accordance with the
Government and the Group’s health and safety standards.

Development and training — The training of the Group
focuses on important issues while giving a comprehensive
coverage on all matters. In 2017, the Group conducted training
in line with the training requirements for senior and middle
management, professional and technical personnel, first-line
management and production operation staff in accordance
with the training requirements of each position. Independent
professional organizations are engaged to provide training on
various aspects of lean management, in order to enhance and
improve their knowledge and working skills. During the year, a
total of 378 key training programs have been completed, and
approximately 2,500 hours have been devoted to staff training

for approximately 16,000 employees.

Labour standard — The Group strictly complies with the
provisions of labour laws and relevant laws and regulation of
China and we employ employees who have reached the legal
working age and hold valid identity documents. The Group
recruits on the basis of fairness, openness and voluntariness,
and does not force labor to sign an illegal labour contract. The
Group employs employees in accordance with the requirements
strictly, and there is no illegal employment. No child labor is
allowed to work in any workplace of the Group. The Group also
employs interns in accordance with the law.
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Management of supply chain — The Group has established a
relatively complete supplier management system. Requirements
of confidentiality, integrity and product quality are made
clear to suppliers in the processes of supplier recruitment,
supplier evaluation, material procurement, price negotiation
and supplier replacement to ensure the confidentiality of
both the Group’s and the suppliers’ sensitive information, to
guarantee the product qualities and employees’ integrity in the
management of supply chain. The Group requires all suppliers
of raw material to provide test reports on hazardous substances
issued by qualified independent third-party testing institutions
and carry out long-term quality supervision and regular reviews
on all suppliers. In the event that there is a significant change
in the suppliers and/or their qualifications or there is a serious
quality problem in the supplied goods, the Group may suspend
the supplier in question at any time and, if necessary, revoke
the supplier’s qualification as a qualified supplier of our Group
to ensure the reliability in the quality of our products.

Product responsibility — The Group has adopted the following
measures to improve product safety and quality: in order to
reduce the quality risk in the initial stage of mass production,
a quality assurance team has been set up, the frequency of
testing and grading in the initial stage of mass production
have been increased and product quality issues are followed
up in a timely manner; special testing equipment to conduct
internal supervision of product quality is used and internal
quality control processes are strictly enforced; the “Waste
Electrical and Electronic Equipment (“WEEE") directive and the
“Restriction of Hazardous Substances” (“RoHS") Directive of
the European Union are complied with and the halogen-free
standard is adopted in the production process.
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Anti-corruption — We have formulated a “Guideline for
External Relations” for staff and entered into “Agreement on
United Front of Integrity” with suppliers in light of the actual
situation of the Group, in order to strengthen the corporate
governance and internal control, regulate the behaviours
in business operation, safeguard the legitimate rights and
interests of the shareholders and promote the healthy and
stable development of the Company. The Group encourages
employees to report behaviours which are suspected to involve
corruptions and has established a complaint hotline and e-mail.
The Group clearly stipulates that all employees who commit
fraudulent activities are subject to corresponding economic
and administrative sanctions and those who have violated the
criminal law shall be sent to the judicial authorities according
to the laws. During the year under review, such systems
played a sound monitoring and prevention role in the Group’s
risk control and anti-corruption management in which no
significant weakness has been identified.

Participation in community — The Group attaches importance
in contributing to the community, improving community
through the devotion of time, energy and resources, offering
assistance to poor people or disadvantaged groups, and
improving the living conditions of the community. Looking
ahead, the Group will continue to identify new opportunities
for the promotion of sustainable development through business
operations, strengthen participation in the community, and
foster a culture of dedication within the community.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present their
annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2017.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s principal activities are the manufacture and sale
of flexible printed circuit, flexible packaging substrates and
corresponding components. For the year ended 31 December
2017, the Group has changed the segment previously disclosed
as 'sourcing and sale of electronic components’ to ‘Other’ since
the Group decided to put less focus on sourcing and sale of
electronic components business after the disposal of the entire
75% equity interests in Giant Rise Technology Limited in May
2017, which was the previous principal operating entity of the
Group engaged in the said business. An analysis of the Group's
turnover by geographical market of its customers and operating
segments for the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in
note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and is
engaged in the sourcing of raw materials and equipment
and trading of flexible printed circuits. The activities of its
subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year under
review and a discussion on the Group’s future development are
set out in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 4 to 7 of this
report and the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages
15 to 27. These discussions form part of this Directors’ report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year under review, as far as the Board and
management are aware, there was no material breach of or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by
the Group that has a significant impact on the businesses and
operations of the Group.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to
meet its immediate and long-term business goals. During the
year ended 31 December 2017, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its employees,
customers and suppliers.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

A discussion on the environmental policy and performance
of the Group during the year under review is set out in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 40 to
51 of this report. The Environmental, Social and Governance
Report form part of the Directors’ report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The industry which the Group’s businesses operate in and the
performance of the Group are influenced by changes in market
conditions, technology advancement, evolvement in industry
standards, customers’ demands for the Group’s products,
and changes in preferences of the ultimate customers. The
Group operates its businesses in accordance with various
industry standards and government laws and regulations. In
order to meet the market demands for ever-changing product
functions and new products, the Group has made relatively
substantial investments towards the research and development
("R&D") of new products and new production technologies,
notwithstanding that the R&D expenses of certain projects are
supplemented by government grants. Further, the majority
of the Group’s turnover is generated from a few major
customers. Hence, the Group endeavours to respond to such
operational shifts and market demands in a timely manner,
to successfully research and develop new products and new
technologies, to maintain good co-operative relationships with
our customers, so as to avoid and/or minimize the negative
impact of such risks. In addition, while the flexible packaging
substrates production lines at Phase Il of Suzhou Factory has
begun production in batches, economic scale has yet been
achieved due to insufficient order quantity, the large amount
of investment and high fixed costs and high labour costs.
This has become one of the major risk factors of the Group’s
performance. The Group is striving to develop new customers
and receive more orders.
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Furthermore, the Group is affected by market risks (such as
currency and interest rate fluctuations), credit risks and liquidity
Details of the
financial risks management of the Group is set out in note 27

risks during its ordinary course of business.

of the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on page 77.

The Directors recommend the payment of final dividend of HK1
cent per share for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016:
nil) to the shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members of the Company on Friday, 8 June 2018. Subject
to the approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming annual
“AGM"), the proposed final dividend is
expected to be paid on or around Wednesday, 20 June 2018.

general meeting (the

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
6 June 2018 to 8 June 2018 (both days inclusive) during
which no transfer of shares will be effected. To qualify for
the distribution of the above-mentioned final dividend, all
properly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the share registrar of
the Company, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong by no later than 4:30
p.m. on 5 June 2018.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements during the year under review in the

property, plant and equipment of the Group and the Company
are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note
25 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SUBSIDIARIES

Details of subsidiaries of the Group are set out in note 37 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year under review and up to the date
of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng (Chairman)

Mr. Chai Zhi Qiang (Chief Executive Officer; retired from his
directorship on 26 May 2017)

Non-executive Directors:

Ms. Li Ying Hong

Mr. Gao Xiaoguang

Mr. Jia Junan

Mr. Wang Chunsheng (appointed on 30 January 2018)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Hung Chi Yuen Andrew

Mr. Zhao Xiao (term of office expired on 15 February 2018)
Mr. Cui Zheng

Pursuant to Article 101 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three
or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not
exceeding one-third, shall retire from office, provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years. The Directors to retire in every
year shall be those who have been longest in office since their
last election. Accordingly, Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng and Mr. Gao
Xiaoguang shall retire by rotation at the AGM in accordance
with the Articles of Association. Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng and
Mr. Gao Xiaoguang, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election at the AGM.
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Pursuant to Article 92 of the Company’s Articles of Association,
the Board shall have power from time to time, and at any time
to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a vacancy or
as an addition to the Board. Any Director so appointed shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting
of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at
that meeting. Mr. Wang Chunsheng, a non-executive Director
appointed by the Board on 30 January 2018 will also retire and,
being eligible, offer himself for re-election at the AGM.

Mr. Chai Zhigiang retired from his directorship on 26 May
2017, but has remained as the chief executive officer of
the Company. Mr. Zhao Xiao did not seek for renewal of
his appointment as an independent non-executive Director,
chairman of the remuneration committee, a member of the
audit committee and a member of the nomination committee
upon expiration of his term of office on 15 February 2018 due
to his other business commitments. During the year under
review, no Director resigned from his office or refused to stand
for re-election to his office due to reasons relating to the affairs
of the Company.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company for a term of three years and
thereafter will continue until being terminated by not less than
three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the
other. Each of the non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors has been appointed by the Company
under a letter of appointment for a term of three years which
is terminable by not less than three months’ prior notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

Details of the Directors and chief executives’ remuneration are
set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31 December 2017, directors of the
subsidiaries of the Company were as follows:
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Name of Subsidiaries

MEBAREME

Name of Directors

EENSA

AKM Electronics Industrial (Panyu) Ltd.

Chai zhi Qiang (Chairman), Xiong Zheng Feng,

Li Ying Hong, Zhuang Zhijian

ZEMN(ER)EFTEXEARA wER(EE) -

AKM Electronic Technology (Suzhou)

RRIEUE - ZFBRAT - EER

Chai Zhi Qiang (Chairman), Xiong Zheng Feng,

Company Limited Li Ying Hong
ZREFEFRE (M) GRA A Lo () C RRIEE - ZRRAT
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S EERBREITHAERRSD - HER

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 December 2017, none of
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company and
their respective associates had or was deemed to have any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")),
as recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules:
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Interest in shares of the Company
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Class and

number of Approximate

securities percentage of

of which total number of

Name of the interested issued shares in

Company in (other than the Company as

which interest under equity Long/Short at 31 December

Name is held derivatives)  Capacity position 2017

i 43 B 25 RZZ—tF

&5 +=ZA=t-—-H

REHRKEH EhKR#E BARRB 2

EEZ (RAELTE ERITROEE

A DAL TEKRMS S BE/%E ZELEIH

Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng  the Company 7,900,000  Beneficial owner Long 0.64
(Note 1) ordinary shares

FRIFIg L& /NS 7,900,0000% E#@EAA 1R 0.64
(Biz1) Ak

Mr. Chai Zhi Qiang the Company 6,975,000  Beneficial owner Long 0.57
(Note 2) ordinary shares

REBRKLE VN 6,975,000k E=EEA 1A 0.57
(Htez2) gl

Ms. Li Ying Hong the Company 6,625,000  Beneficial owner Long 0.54
(Note 3) ordinary shares

FHAO Lt /NS 6,625,0000% EZEAA 1R 0.54
(B173) Rl
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Note:

1. Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng is an executive Director of the
Company. On 29 November 2017, the Company entered
into a subscription agreement with Alpha Luck and a
subscription agreement with Anjie Technology respectively for
the Subscriptions, pursuant to which Alpha Luck and Anjie
Technology respectively subscribed to 103,900,000 shares and
200,000,000 shares at the subscription price of HK$1.50 per
share. After the simultaneous completion of the Subscriptions
on 31 January 2018 and as at the date of this report,
Mr. Xiong Zheng Feng beneficially owns 7,900,000 ordinary
shares of the Company, representing approximately 0.51% of
the total number of issued shares of the Company.

25 Mr. Chai Zhi Qiang is the chief executive officer of the
Company. After the simultaneous completion of the
Subscriptions on 31 January 2018 and as at the date of
this report, Mr. Chai Zhi Qiang beneficially owns 6,975,000
ordinary shares of the Company, representing approximately
0.45% of the total number of issued shares of the Company.

3. Ms. Li Ying Hong is a non-executive Director of the Company.
After the simultaneous completion of the Subscriptions on
31 January 2018 and as at the date of this report, Ms. Li
Ying Hong owns 6,625,000 ordinary shares of the Company,
representing approximately 0.43% of the total number of
issued shares of the Company.

(ii) Interest in the underlying shares of the Company
through equity derivatives

As at 31 December 2017, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, none of the Directors nor chief
executive of the Company had or was deemed
to have any interest in the underlying shares the
Company.

(b) The associated corporation

As at 31 December 2017, to the best knowledge of the
the Directors, none of the Directors nor chief executive of
the Company had or was deemed to have any interests
or short positions in the shares or the underlying shares
or debentures of any associated corporations of the
Company (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that
was required to be recorded pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO and the Model Code.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year under review was the Company,
its holding Company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
which the Company, its holding companies, fellow subsidiaries
or subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at any time during the year under review or at the
end of the year under review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or in existence during the year
under review.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the top five
highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in note 10 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2017, to the best knowledge of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company, shareholders
(other than Directors) who had any interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or who were directly
or indirectly interested in 10% or more of all issued shares to
vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any members
of the Group are set out as below:
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Class and number of
securities in which
interested (other than

Approximate

percentage of total

number of issued

Long/short shares in the Company

Name of substantial shareholder Capacity under equity derivatives) position as at 31 December 2017
R=B-tF
+=A=+-H
BE2ESEH EAAR2H
& ! ERITROHE
TZRRER &1 (RASTEI AR HE/ %R ZBABL
(Notes 7) (Notes 8)
(Wit7) (Hiis)
Alpha Luck (Note 1) Beneficial owner 450,000,000 Long 36.46
ordinary shares
ZHNBX(Wit1) EREAA 450,000,0008% & & e 36.46
Silver City International (Holdings) Interest in controlled 450,000,000 Long 36.46
Ltd. (“Silver City") (Note 2) corporation ordinary shares
REAR(SB)ARAA REBHAR #a 450,000,0008% & i & e 36.46
(TRERR]) (H22)
China North Industries Corporation Interest in controlled 450,000,000 ordinary shares Long 36.46
("CNIC") (Note 2 and 6) corporation
HEHIEEBRAF REBHAR B 450,000,0008% & & e 36.46
(RI&[HELFTERR])
(AT (H2k6)
China North Industries Group Corporation  Interest in controlled 450,000,000 ordinary shares Long 36.46
("CNIGC") (Note 3 and 6) corporation
HEERIXEEARDA REBHAR B 450,000,0008% & i & e 36.46
((HERBRIE]) (H#3k6)
China South Industries Group Corporation Interest in controlled 450,000,000 ordinary shares Long 36.46
("CSIGC") (Note 3 and 6) corporation
HEEREEREARDA REBHAR #5 450,000,0008% & & & e 36.46
(ThERRERE]) (H73K6)
Goertek (HongKong) Co., Limited Beneficial owner 363,650,000 ordinary shares Long 29.46
("HK Goertek") (Note 4)
EARBRRARDA EREAA 363,650,0008% & i@ i e 29.46
([BRTBRR]) (Hi#4)
Weifang Goertek Trading Co., Limited Interest in controlled 363,650,000 ordinary shares Long 29.46
("Weifang Goertek”) (Note 5) corporation
ENTBESERRA REBHAR #5 363,650,0008% & i@ % e 29.46
(TSR] (H225)
GoerTek (Note 5) Interest in controlled 363,650,000 ordinary shares Long 29.46
corporation
TR (Hit5) REBHAR B 363,650,0008% & i@ % e 29.46
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Notes: Bat

After the simultaneous completion of the Subscriptions on 31 January 2018
and as at the date of this report, Alpha Luck beneficially owns 553,900,000
ordinary shares, representing approximately 36.01% of the total number of
issued shares of the Company.

ARBEER-_T—N\F—A=+HRARTKREER
leiﬁz%El,Hﬁ BRI EEEZHEAR AN AR]553,900,0008%
AR MARRREHEBTRMHEE 2436.01% °

2. As Alpha Luck is wholly and beneficially owned by Silver City, which in turn HREHEXARERBREETESES - MREBE
is wholly and beneficially owned by CNIC, both Silver City and CNIC are ARt IR EERER  BEFHFRABKIIE
deemed to be interested in the same number of shares of the Company XVES - REFEBE R T TEAOH R ARLTHEEIES
held by Alpha Luck under Part XV of the SFO. ZE—HARDBRD R REE R

3. As the equity interest of CNIC was owned as to 50% by CNIGC and as to AR A TEREHTE R TEEE0%RAPE
50% by CSIGC, both of CNIGC and CSIGC are deemed to be interested in EREHEEES0% @ RIEFH RS KA EXVEE - F
the same number of shares of the Company held by CNIC under Part XV of l}ia‘%l%&‘? HEREEOHER AR TERE
the SFO. ZRA—HARRARKRMDPES B -

4. After the simultaneous completion of the Subscriptions on 30 January A w@%%ﬁ \ZE-NF-A=+HRAKBTKE
2018 and as at the date of this report, HK Goertek beneficially owns RABRERY BAEARBRREREBARA
363,650,000 ordinary shares, representing approximately 23.64% of the 363,650,000%%%@% CEARRFEHEBITRMNER
total number of issued shares of the Company. 2 #923.64% -

5. As HK Goertek is wholly and beneficially owned by Weifang Goertek, which E‘EEA%;/%:}AEI%A\%EEI/‘EE:}AQQQE SHER - A
in turn is wholly and beneficially owned by GoerTek, both Weifang Goertek TRUBRBRNZEE=ER  REZSFRATK
and GoerTek are deemed to be interested in the same number of shares of BIEXVED - AHHBARTRRMDAEERLEBRD
the Company held by HK Goertek under Part XV of the SFO. RRFBAEZRA—HERARROPEA = o

6.  Pursuant to the Notice of the General Office of the State Council on BEEBRFNEARE P RDEH RS TIEE
Printing and Distributing the Implementing Plan for Corporate-style HEMBA (BIHE[2017]1695%) - P BEEKRES
Restructuring of Central Enterprises (No. 69 (2017)) (EI#Bx it RAFERS EEEBEEBRZES([HEZRDES kT ER-
RENE R RAERIRG THEERSTROBM (BHIX[2017]69%) and T-NFZARKAREA(AREM]) rMitH T
under the direction of BliSlEl A EELEEIEZEE € (The State-owned ¥OEAVAMABRETAR A HFTEZHRNERE
Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council) NERABPEIEFIEBRAR] - RARIEMETK
("SASAC") of the PRC, CNIC underwent a corporate restructuring %A FTHEATRESTE PHEREHERTPER
(“Corporate Restructuring”) which was completed in February 2018, and EREREERAR ([HEBEX]) 5 AIHEE6.7%
CNIC is transformed into and registered as a limited liability company. The 37.54%K576% c PEIESE T ¥ PRI SR EHE RSP
Chinese name of CNIC has also been changed to"# Bt TEBRA BENAREZ 2 ERAUTHEREERER -
A]". Subsequent to the completion of the Corporate Restructuring, CNIC
is owned as to 56.7% by CNIGC, 37.54% by CSIGC and 5.76% by HEE
FER AR E ML AT (China Reform Holdings Corporation Ltd.) (“CRHC”").

Each of CNIGC, CSIGC and CRHC is wholly-owned and under the direct
supervision and administration of SASAC.

7. None of Alpha Luck, Silver City, CNIC, CNIGC, CSIGC, HK Goertek, THEE  RERE tHTE PRERTE HEH
Weifang Goertek nor GoerTek was interested in any securities of the ERER FAVRERR AVTBERIBROEE
Company under equity derivatives. RARBRASTETIEBE T2 EHFFHEE T -

8.  After the simultaneous completion of the Subscriptions on 30 January RREBEER_Z-N\F-A=+HRARTHERR

2018 and as at the date of this report, Anjie Technology (Hong Kong)
Company Limited (“HK Anjie”) beneficially owns 200,000,000 ordinary
shares, representing approximately 13.00% of the total number of issued
shares of the Company. As HK Anjie is wholly and beneficially owned by
Anjie Technology, Anjie Technology is deemed to be interested in the same
number of shares of the Company held by HK Anjie under Part XV of the
SFO. After the simultaneous completion of the Subscriptions on 30 January
2018 and as at the date of this report, the number of shares and the
percentage shareholding of the substantial shareholders were as follows:

Annual Report 2017

“E-LEER

AREBH  ZEMBZ(EB)BRARA(LRES])
B2 A A2 7]200,000,0000% @A - (5AQE] 2L
BETRMHEE 24 13.00% c ARLEZEBRHLZ
RBE2EERES BEZHFRBEEHEXVE - &
52%4&%82%%%5&/giﬁlf‘éﬁﬁszﬁmﬂaﬂH&‘WP
BEED RRABSER-_Z—\F—A=1+HRAK
ERERARNREAS  FERBEZRHBE RIER
BOLWAT :



AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEF E£ 5 R 2 7

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHS

Class and number of

securities in which interested

after the simultaneous
completion of the

Subscriptions and as at the

Approximate percentage of
the total number of issued
shares of the Company after
the simultaneous completion
of the subscriptions and at

Name of substantial shareholder Capacity date of this report the date of this report
RABEHRARTHEZ

RABEERARTHR A RRAHRE B

ERAFERRETER EERARZHE R

TERFEHE g4 ZEFERREA ROBE2HNEIH
Alpha Luck Beneficial owner 553,900,000 ordinary shares 36.01
ZHE% ExBEA 553,900,000 & 3 % 36.01
Silver City Interest in controlled corporation 553,900,000 ordinary shares 36.01
HREER N PN P £ 553,900,000 & i A% 36.01
CNIC Interest in controlled corporation 553,900,000 ordinary shares 36.01
TAI% Nt VNI 5 553,900,000 % 37 3% 36.01
CNIGC Interest in controlled corporation 553,900,000 ordinary shares 36.01
REERTE REEH ARz ER 553,900,000 & 7 % 36.01
CSIGC Interest in controlled corporation 553,900,000 ordinary shares 36.01
FEEEER REEH ARz ER 553,900,000 % 57 % 36.01
HK Goertek Beneficial owner 363,650,000 ordinary shares 23.64
EETARR ExBEA 363,650,0000% & i@ ik 23.64
Weifang Goertek Interest in controlled corporation 363,650,000 ordinary shares 23.64
WO TAE N PN P £ 363,650,0000% I 8 i% 23.64
GoerTek Interest in controlled corporation 363,650,000 ordinary shares 23.64
@R N ek VNI 5 363,650,0000% & & ik 23.64
HK Anjie Beneficial owner 200,000,000 ordinary shares 13.00
ZRER EGHEEA 200,000,0008% & & ik 13.00
Anjie Technology Interest in controlled corporation 200,000,000 ordinary shares 13.00
Z 2R REEGIDE#R 200,000,0000% & & % 13.00
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SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions”, no transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a shareholder of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year under review or at any time during the year
under review.

ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

On 13 March 2017, the Company completed the issue of
246,867,500 Rights Shares to the qualifying shareholders
by way of rights, at the subscription price of HK$0.55 per
Rights Share. The net proceeds from the Rights Issue was
approximately HK$133,506,000. Each of the Rights Share,
which was ordinary share, ranked pari passu in all respects
among themselves and with the Shares in issue on the date of
their respective allotment and issue. Details of the Rights Issue
were disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 25
January 2017, 9 February 2017 and 13 March 2017 as well as
the prospectus dated 20 February 2017.

On 29 November 2017, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement with Alpha Luck, the controlling
shareholder of the Company, and a subscription agreement
with Anjie Technology, respectively, pursuant to which
Alpha Luck and Anjie Technology respectively subscribed
for 103,900,000 shares and 200,000,000 shares at the
subscription price of HK$1.50 per share. The Subscriptions
were simultaneously completed on 30 January 2018 and the
net proceeds was approximately HK$454,928,000. The relevant
Subscription Shares were issued to the qualifying shareholders
on 30 January 2018. Each of the Subscription Share, which
was ordinary share, ranked pari passu in all respects among
themselves and with the Shares in issue on the date of their
respective allotment and issue. Details of the Subscriptions
were disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 29
November 2017, 9 January 2018 and 30 January 2018 as well
as the circular dated 20 December 2017.
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The Company did not issue any debentures during the year
ended 31 December 2017.

RESERVES

As at 31 December 2017, the Company’s reserve available for
distribution to shareholders comprised the retained profit of
HK$83,195,000.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 81 and note 36 to the
consolidated financial statement.

CONFIRMATIONS OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based
on such confirmation, the Company considers that all of its

independent non-executive Directors are independent.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Details of the Group’s retirement benefits schemes for the
year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merits,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are decided
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance and

comparable market statistics.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions of pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the aggregate amount
of turnover attributable to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 78% of the Group’s turnover and
the turnover attributable to the Group’s largest customer and
GoerTek and its subsidiaries accounted for approximately 38%
and 11% of the Group’s turnover respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the aggregate amount
of purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 37% of the Group’ s purchases
and the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier
accounted for approximately 18% of the Group’s purchases.

Save as disclosed in this report, none of the Directors, their
respective close associates nor any shareholder (who or which
to the best knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of
the issued share capital of the Company) has any interest in the
top five customers and top five suppliers of the Group during
the year under review.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during the
year ended 31 December 2017.

COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or their respective close associates (as
defined under the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business
which causes or may cause significant competition with the
business of the Group.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 6 December 2016, the Company (for itself and on behalf
of its subsidiaries) and GoerTek (for itself and on behalf of its
subsidiaries) entered into the renewed purchase agreement
("Renewed Purchase Agreement”) in relation to the sale of
parts, components and other products (including but not
limited to FPC products) by the Group to GoerTek, for the
period commenced from 1 January 2017 and expiring on 31
December 2019. Such transactions constituted non-exempt
continuing connected transactions of the Company under
the Listing Rules (“Continuing Connected Transactions”).
The Renewed Purchase Agreement and the transactions
contemplated thereunder, as well as the proposed annual
caps for the three years from 2017 were approved by the
independent shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 16 January 2017. The annual caps
set under the Renewed Purchase Agreement for each of the
three years ended 31 December 2017, 2018 and 2019 are
RMB210,000,000, RMB250,000,000 and RMB300,000,000
respectively. Details about the terms of the Renewed Purchase
Agreement, the continuing connected transactions and the
proposed annual caps had been disclosed in the Company’s
announcement dated 6 December 2016 and the circular dated
29 December 2016.

During the period from 1 January 2017 to 31 December
2017, the aggregate amount of the Continuing Connected
Transactions was approximately RMB103,988,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$120,009,000).

The Directors (including all the independent non-executive
Directors) had reviewed the Continuing Connected Transactions
and had confirmed that the Continuing Connected Transactions
were entered into:
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(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(2) on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Company than terms available to or from
independent third parties; and

(3) in accordance with the Renewed Purchase Agreement
governing the transactions and on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the
Continuing Connected Transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 "Auditor’'s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The Company
has received an unmodified report from the independent
auditor containing their finding and conclusions in respect of
the Continuing Connected Transactions in accordance with
Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the independent
auditor’s report has been provided by the Company to the
Stock Exchange.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of
the Continuing Connected Transactions.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to
the Company, and so far as the Directors are aware of, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 December 2017 and up to the latest
practicable date prior to the date of this report.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The articles of association of the Company provides that every
Director, manager, secretary or officer as well as every auditor
of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/
she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties
of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto.

Save as disclosed in this report, the Company has not entered
into permitted indemnity provisions with the Directors. During
the year under review, the Company has taken out and
maintained appropriate insurance to cover potential legal
actions against its Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group or
existed during the year ended 31 December 2017.

DONATIONS

The Group had not made charitable or other donations of
HK$10,000 or above during the year under review (2016: Nil).

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been
audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. A resolution will
be submitted to the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of
the Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
AKM Industrial Company Limited
Xiong Zheng Feng

CHAIRMAN

Hong Kong, 20 March 2018
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Deloitte.

TO THE MEMBERS OF AKM INDUSTRIAL COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
AKM Industrial Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) set
out on pages 77 to 167, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2017,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,

including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2017, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming

FRETER

B ET SEERBRMOBEHE - HAH
REMBHRRNEARAEENER - %EF
HARERMBFBREAUBRRLRHLAER
FETRIEN - M T EHELFTHERES
NER -

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Key audit matter

CE RS

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNETTENMEERZEETSHE

Allowances for obsolete inventories

REFERZFE

We identified the allowances for obsolete inventories
as a key audit matter because of the significant degree
of management judgement and estimation uncertainty
to determine the amount of allowances based on net
realisable values.

HRRBEA SR FEECCBEREIRERRENE
BEAHRIHRTEENE  ALBEMBREFTERER
ERBEEETEE-

As disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements, carrying amount of the Group’s inventories
as at 31 December 2017 amounted to HK$95,480,000
and allowance for obsolete inventories recognised in
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2017
amounted to HK$5,172,000.

BN E T BERRMT17FAEE > RZE—+F+ A
=+—H EfEZFERMEERIS480,0008T K&
A FFT A=+ HILEFEREREACREF
&R /5,172,000 7T

Management of the Group reviewed the aged analysis
of the inventories at the end of the reporting period to
determine whether any provision is required to write
off or write down inventories to their net realisable
values, based on the latest selling prices and current
marketable conditions.
EEEEREERTRBREMRRZFERK T - AR
BROMEERBARAIHENAETRETENIRER
AMSHS OB T E E H Al #3575 (E -

Our procedures in relation to the allowance for
obsolete inventories included:

HPEREFERERENREF B

e Understanding the management’s assessment
in estimating the net realisable values of the
inventories and the Group’s policy adopted for
making allowances to write off or write down
inventories to their net realisable values.
BREBRENEAEEERFERZAGRE &
SEMFTRBEAMEIHORFEZ &R FEM
IR R ©

e Testing the appropriateness of the aged analysis
of inventories on a sample basis by checking the
ageing date to date of purchase or manufacture.
BBHESTR  BREPPEBENEERRAL
- DARFERRO TS EL -

e Testing the accuracy of the management’s
estimates of the net realisable values of the
inventories by comparing the latest selling prices
of the inventories, on a sample basis, to the latest
invoice prices of sale.

REWMESTN BEENSOCHEERESIHNHEE
BEEBRER  AREEEBHFENERFENG
FTE RN o

e  Evaluating the historical accuracy of the allowance
made by the Group by comparing the allowance
made in prior year to actual amount of obsolete
inventories in current year.
REFIFLNBERAFEREFTENERBEL
B ARG EEBEELEENE L ERIL -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont’d)

Key audit matter

REEER

FRESTEIR(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMNESTTENAEEREARESEE

Recoverability of trade receivables

E 5 W R A9 AT K ] 1

We identified the recoverability of the trade receivables
as a key audit matter due to significant degree of
management judgement and estimation uncertainty
involved in assessing recoverability of trade receivables.
AR EESRUFHIBRARKRE SR EARENEEE
H R EE AR E N At RIS R ERTE RER
FEfFHE-

As disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying amount of trade receivables
amounted to HK$331,963,000, net of the allowance
for doubtful debts amounted to HK$12,000 as at 31
December 2017.

WAERE B MERMT18IEE - R —tF+=A
=t+—HNEZRKFIERMAE/A331,963,000/% 7T (1
bR RER$E 12,0008 7T) °

The management of the Group reviewed the
recoverability together with the aged analysis of trade
and bills receivables so as to determine the amounts of
allowance for doubtful debts.

EXEBEEREEDCERE HRKFIAKEKREE AT UK
MARBRE DT - (EME T RRBENBE -

Our procedures in relation to the recoverability of the
trade receivables included:

TP B 5 YR Ay Al W Bl AR R VI 7 845

e  Evaluating the reasonableness of the management,

and assessment made therefrom, on the
recoverability of trade receivables by reference to
the accuracy of the management’s past estimates
and taking into account the aged analysis of trade
receivables;
2EEEERTMHANERERKEEERE FHERKK
HEHERER DT - AIEERRFEE S EYWSIERE
Wt s R

e Testing the appropriateness of the aged analysis
of the trade receivables on a sample basis by
checking the ageing date to date of issue of
invoices; and
BAMEAIRX  BREDHAELAZEENHEHSL
A ESRUEGRIERKR O M S EE - &

e  Evaluating the historical accuracy of the allowance
made by the management by comparing the
allowance made in prior year to actual amount of
doubtful debts in current year.
HEEFFLNBERAFERBRER SR - AT
HEREFELBENE L ERIE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’'s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

e  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEF E£ 5 R 2 7

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB E

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB E

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Cont’d)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits
of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the
independent auditor’s report is Li Kin Fai.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

20 March 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REEaRHEMGMEE KSR

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ=—F—+F+=-A=+—HIFZF

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
g3 FET AT
Revenue WA 5 1,118,838 821,662
Cost of sales HERAR (898,627) (646,373)
Gross profit E7 220,211 175,289
Other income H At Y A 6 17,874 15,037
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMEQFER 26 (3,224) =
Distribution costs SN =] N (16,760) (15,897)
Administrative expenses THXZH (36,551) (31,852)
Research and development expenses e A (79,882) (92,122)
Share of profit of an associate FEAS —FEIEsE 2 2 =) 40 =
Finance costs AR 4 (2,850) (5,198)
Profit before taxation B 5 B g A 8 98,858 45,257
Taxation IR 9 (19,850) (17,567)
Profit for the year N E g Al 79,008 27,690
Other comprehensive income (expense):  HM2E Uz (B ) :
Item that may be subsequently reclassified BE2 N EFDEEER
to profit or loss: ZIARE :
Exchange differences arising on WMEGINETREL Y
translation of foreign operations fE N =% 40,586 (36,571)
Share of exchange difference of i e i /NI
an associate [N ER 192 -
Reclassification of translation reserve NEEHB QTR
to profit or loss upon disposal of MEEEETRSRE
subsidiaries 2@ 1,729 -
42,507 (36,571)
Total comprehensive income (expense) AEE2EWRZE (FX)
for the year e 121,515 (8,881)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REEEaRHMEZEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ—F—+F+=-A=+—HIFEF

2017 2016
ZE—tF R W
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
it FTER FHET
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to: EEARFEERZH (E8)
Owners of the Company PAN/NSIEZ RSN 79,016 27,944
Non-controlling interests YRR M 25 (8) (254)
79,008 27,690
Total comprehensive income (expense) FEEE2ERE(FX)
attributable to: B
Owners of the Company ViN/NETE P =N 121,511 (8,543)
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR M AR 4 (338)
121,515 (8,881)
2017 2016
—E—+tF b
Earnings per share — basic GRAN R 12 HK6.62 centsifll  HK2.72 centsi{l
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

& B R IR R R

At 31 December 2017 R-ZE—+F+—-A=+—H

Annual Report 2017
—BtEER

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Vioka FET FET
Non-current assets IERBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - WERERE 13 633,309 474,339
Prepaid lease payments TEfTHH & 5RIB 14 49,187 47,147
Interest in an associate R—REBE AR 2w 15 3,848 B
Available-for-sale investment AHEEZRE 16 17,945 16,769
Deposits for property, plant and ME  BmERREY
equipment R®e 13 14,694 15,363
718,983 553,618
Current assets REBEE
Inventories ey 17 95,480 79,771
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H b e W s IE 18 361,043 318,121
Prepaid lease payments ERHEENRIE 14 1,265 1,182
Pledged bank deposits BEHEMRRITER 19 2,357 2,356
Bank balances and cash RITEH LIRS 20 89,288 26,603
549,433 428,033
Current liabilities FEE
Trade and other payables B R EMENFIE 21 413,146 321,807
Deferred income I JE U A 22 5,288 2,395
Taxation payable JE B 18 8,456 6,829
Bank borrowings RITEE 23 67,976 134,391
494,866 465,422
Net current assets (liabilities) FREEAE(AE) 54,567 (37,389)
Total assets less current liabilities LEERABARG 773,550 516,229
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
& B R IR R R

At 31 December 2017 R-ZF—+F+-H=+—H

2017 2016
ZE—tF R W
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k3 FET FHT
Capital and reserves MR K
Share capital % < 25 466,667 333,161
Reserves % 1 271,776 150,265
Equity attributable to owners of RAGHE ANEGRER
the Company 738,443 483,426
Non-controlling interests FEIERTRE 2R = 631
Total equity AR 738,443 484,057
Non-current liabilities EmEBEE
Deferred income BT A 22 26,001 25,045
Deferred taxation RIEFE A 24 9,106 7,127
35,107 32,172
773,550 516,229

The consolidated financial statements on pages 77 to 167 were ZEFER_F—/\F=ZA -+ RHHLETRET
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on  EF77E167E 2 MK wmE - L T3 &E

20 March 2018 and are signed on its behalf by: ERERERE
LI YING HONG XIONG ZHENG FENG
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
TRRAL REIF I
BF BEF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REERBBER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z=F

—tFIT A=t —HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

81

ONGIE 2PN
Statutory
Share surplus  Translation  Retained Non-
capital reserve reserve profits  Sub-total  controlling Total
(Note) interests
LR 2R
k& ffE  BRERE  REERA it B ag
(Hit)
HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000
AL T T AL T ThL AL
At 1 January 2016 A=F-RE-f-H 333,161 - 32,803 126,005 491,969 3,219 495,188
Profit (loss) for the year REFRRN(ER) - - s 27,944 27,944 (254) 27,690
Exchange differences arising BEBNEBEEL
on translation of foreign EHES
operations = = (36,487) = (36,487) (84) (36,571)
Total comprehensive (expense) AEE2E (AR Wi
income for the year ok . - [(36487) 27944 (8,543) (338) (8,881)
Dividend paid EARE S 2 = - = (2,250) (2,250)
At 31 December 2016 R=E-RE+-R=+-H 333161 = (3,684) 153,949 483,426 631 484,057
Profit (loss) for the year REFRRN(BR) - - L 79,016 79,016 ® 79,008
Exchange difference arising BEBNEBELL
on translation of foreign EHES
operations - - 40,574 - 40,574 12 40,586
Share of exchange difference of AME-HEBEARELER
an associate 5 - 192 - 192 - 192
Reclassification of translation reserve  HEMBAREEH
to profit or loss upon disposal of }ﬁ#ﬁﬁﬁﬁ @
subsidiaries - - 1,729 - 1,729 - 1,729
Total comprehensive income TEERENRES
jorteyezs e - 49 79016 121511 4 11515
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve ERTEITRREE = 22,551 - (22551) : . -
Issue of shares upon rights issue MR B TR 133,506 = = - 133,506 - 133,506
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 26) MEWB LR (Hi26) : - & r - (635) (635)
At 31 December 2017 R-E-tE+-A=1+-H 466,667 22,551 38,811 210,414 738,443 - 738,443

Note: Statutory surplus reserve represented The People’s Republic of China

(the

“PRC") statutory reserves. Pursuant to the relevant PRC regulations

and the Articles of Association of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company,
the PRC subsidiaries are required to transfer not less than 10% of their
post-tax profit to statutory reserves (i.e. statutory surplus reserve) as reserve
funds until the aggregated amounts have reached 50% of their registered
capitals. These reserves should only be used to make up losses, or
conversion into capital, or expansion of production and operation according
to the relevant rules in the PRC.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GREHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HZ—F—+F+=-A=+—HIFEF

2017 2016
—E—tF —ESARE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXWB
Profit before taxation b %5t 51T i 7 98,858 45,257
Adjustments for: HTISIBIELAE
Share of profit of an associate P h — A5 E R R T (40) .
Interest expense FEXH 2,850 5,198
Interest income ) B WA (1,035) (88)
(Reversal of) allowance for (B FRE R ) RERBHE
doubtful debts (25) 1,096
Allowance for obsolete BREFEREE
inventories 5,172 1,546
Amortisation of prepaid TN EERIB
lease payments 1,220 1,236
Depreciation of property, mME - WE X
plant and equipment Bz E 62,487 46,224
Foreign exchange difference on SEARRIMEGEHRZ
inter-company balances fEHER 2,841 761
Loss on disposal of property, HEME BER
plant and equipment w2 B 4,550 4,498
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMRBARZER 3,224 -
Deferred income recognised BRERIETWA (6,455) (6,389)
Operating cash flows before EEEEPHILE
movements in working capital Ben=E 173,647 99,339
Increase in inventories FEEH (15,419) (23,491)
Increase in trade and other B 5 N E b e W FRIE 12 0
receivables (39,369) (144,881)
Increase in trade and other B 5 N H Al FE A SRR IE AN
payables 67,839 160,165
Government grant received B B A 8,311 7,306
Cash generated from operations KEFSIRE 195,009 98,438
Profits tax (paid) refund (B REFEFR (545) 78
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BERAPETEMSH (16,619) (7,826)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING REXBHAESRSEER
ACTIVITIES 177,845 90,690
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
SERERER

—tFIT A=t —HIFE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 B Z=F

2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE-REF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
ks FET AT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXK
Net cash inflows on disposal of HERBARZ
subsidiaries BEmAFE 26 9,545 e
Interest received B U FH B 1,035 88
Proceeds from disposal of HEME - BE R
property, plant and equipment RAEFT1SFKIA 522 1,050
Purchase of property, plant and BEWHE BERRH
equipment (187,940) (104,210)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REXBHERSFR
ACTIVITIES (176,838) (103,072)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES B
Proceeds from issue of BITHERRKR G
rights shares Fr{S 3K 18 135,777 =
Expenses on issue of rights shares 377 BE % (5 B 5% (2,271) -
New borrowings raised HimEE 95,617 215,647
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITEE (167,471) (200,527)
Interest paid EAFE (2,850) (5,198)
Dividend paid to non-controlling IR HxHx$H
shareholders - (2,250)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING RMEXBRESREERE
ACTIVITIES 58,802 7,672
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN ReERASEEEBEM
CASH AND CASH CR2) B8
EQUIVALENTS 59,809 (4,710)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FNRENELEZEEH
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 26,603 32,851
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE /S ERS B &
RATE CHANGES 2,876 (1,538)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRESRBESSEER
AT END OF THE YEAR, HMRTERRRE
REPRESENTING BANK
BALANCES AND CASH 89,288 26,603
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BERRMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZ2=—F—+F+-A=+—HIFE

GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in
Hong Kong with limited liability on 9 December 1993.

The shares of the Company were listed on the GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) with effect from 18 August 2004. On 18 June
2014, the Company transferred the listing of its shares
from GEM to the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The
registered office of the Company is situated at Rooms
2708-11, 27th Floor, West Tower, Shun Tak Centre,
168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong, and the
principal place of business of the Company is situated at
63 Huan Shi Road South, Information Technology Park,
Nansha District, Guangzhou City, the PRC.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"”), which is the functional
currency of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company and is
engaged in sourcing of raw materials and equipment and
trading of flexible printed circuits (“FPC"). Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in manufacture and sale of FPC
and manufacture and sale of flexible packaging substrates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZ—F—+F+-_A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. HMAFHFTIREBITE B BIREE

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS Bl (&R BHREEL D)
("HKFRSs")

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective REAFERFNER BBV EREERNE
for the current year EIE:S

The Group has applied the following amendments to RAFE AEBGRAERATEHELES
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified A ([BFSMAT]) BH2ER
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time in the ISR SR 2185 ¢

current year:

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative EBGERETR  BEAE
ZIEFT
Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax BEGTERE 125 BECHEEAEERA
Assets for Unrealised Losses 21BE] REREE
Amendments to HKFRS 12 As part of the Annual BRI BRE AR BB REER
Improvements to HKFRSs F125 2 B5T —ET-MEZFE
2014-2016 Cycle ZE-REAHR

FEMERT R

Except as described below, the application of the BRTIXFriiEIN  RAEEERABTENS
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no WMERA 2B TNERNEBERANEERIB
material impact on the Group’s financial performance FFEEZMBERBRREMRLE,REZEHRE
and positions for the current and prior years and/or on W HMEMEAI o WBEDEERERTE -

the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BERRMNE

—E—tF A= —HILFE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 &=

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year (Cont’d)

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

The Group has applied these amendments for the first
time in the current year. The amendments require an
entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash

changes. In addition, the amendments also require
disclosures on changes in financial assets if cash flows
from those financial assets were, or future cash flows will

be, included in cash flows from financing activities.

Specifically, the amendments require the following to
be disclosed: (i) changes from financing cash flows;
(i) changes arising from obtaining or losing control of
subsidiaries or other businesses; (iii) the effect of changes
in foreign exchange rates; (iv) changes in fair values; and

(v) other changes.

A reconciliation between the opening and closing balances
of these items is provided in note 29. Consistent with
the transition provisions of the amendments, the Group
has not disclosed comparative information for the prior
year. Apart from the additional disclosure in note 28, the
application of these amendments has had no impact on
the Group's consolidated financial statements.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZ—F—+F+-_A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:
HKFRS 9
HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17
HK(IFRIC) - Int 22
HK(IFRIC) - Int 23

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKAS 40
Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 28

Financial Instruments’

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments’

Leases’

Insurance Contracts?

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration’

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments?

Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions’

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts’

Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle?

Transfers of Investment Property’

Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventues?

As part of the Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle!

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

J Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

. Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BERRMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZ2=—F—+F+-A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Cont’d)

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs and
Interpretations mentioned below, the directors of the
Company anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRSs and Interpretations will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities,
general hedge accounting and impairment requirements
for financial assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are relevant to the
Group are:

e all recognised financial assets that are within the
scope of HKFRS 9 are required to be subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically,
debt investments that are held within a business
model whose objective is to collect the contractual
cash flows, and that have contractual cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal outstanding are generally measured at
amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting
periods. Debt instruments that are held within a
business model whose objective is achieved both by
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial
assets, and that have contractual terms that give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding, are generally measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVTOCI"). All other financial assets are measured at
their fair value at the end of subsequent accounting
periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may
make an irrevocable election to present subsequent
changes in the fair value of an equity investment
(that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive
income, with only dividend income generally
recognised in profit or loss.

Annual Report 2017

—E—LEER

2.

R RAEER] BRI BREE
A (TEBMBHREER]D (&)

B 2B {8 5 K £ 4 2 #T 5T R AZ NG 5] BB A
BHEER (&)

B T XAl 2 3R] MG BRI B AW MM E
EARREIN ARREEHEHREBAA
HMH# e REERT B AR BHRE EL R
BRARSKBTEHEEMBTRREK
ERATE-

ERMBBEENEIREHTA

FEEMBHRELERESRERHETRE
EDBME  ERAE - —REP S
BRIEFTEREREEMENAE °

EAREERENE LY HREERIE5R
MEZRESRMT -

s BEAMBHEENFIRELEAFMR
BFERR TR EER R AREHK
RF R FEAE - ARBME REW
BEBMAENRERENEHRATH
BUARMBRABERAS MR AREER
A ENFNENRETRENEH KX
B —RRERSAHMERERE
HRAFE RENBRBRESH
RenEBMlHESREENEBEREN
THAENEBEBIA  UREHERS
REEABELNRAEREMAKE RS
NARERREERASOFNENERLT
H ARV EFEEEZEFHTARLM
2HKE (R FEFAEMLZE R
@ml) ARt EMEEONERSE
SR REIZ DT EE o pHh -
REFEWHRELENFSNR - B
AEE AT EEEE - REMEER
2B HFEEENRERERF
EMHEES  ERSWA—KRNE
T AERR o



AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEF E£ 5 R 2 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZ—F—+F+-_A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Cont’d)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Cont’d)

in relation to the impairment of financial assets,
HKFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model, as
opposed to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS
39. The expected credit loss model requires an entity
to account for expected credit losses and changes in
those expected credit losses at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit
event to have occurred before credit losses are
recognised.

Based on the Group’s financial instruments and risk

management policies as at 31 December 2017, the

directors of the Company anticipate the following

potential impact on initial application of HKFRS 9:

Classification and measurement

equity securities classified as available-for-sale
investments carried at cost less impairment as
disclosed in note 16: these securities qualified for
designation as measured at FVTOCI under HKFRS 9
and the Group will measure these securities at fair
value at the end of subsequent reporting periods
with fair value gains or losses to be recognised as
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the investments revaluation reserve. Upon initial
application of HKFRS 9, the estimated fair value
gain of approximately HK$2.4 million relating to
these securities would be adjusted to investment
revaluation reserve as at 1 January 2018.

all other financial assets and financial liabilities will
continue to be measured on the same bases as are
currently measured under HKAS 39.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BERRMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZ2=—F—+F+-A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Cont’d)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Cont’d)
Impairment

In general, the directors of the Company anticipate that
the application of the expected credit loss model of HKFRS
9 will result in earlier provision of credit losses which are
not yet incurred in relation to the Group’s financial assets
measured at amortised costs and other items that subject
to the impairment provisions upon application of HKFRS 9
by the Group.

Based on the assessment by the directors of the Company,
if the expected credit loss model were to be applied by
the Group, there would be no material impact on the
accumulated amount of impairment loss to be recognised
by the Group as at 1 January 2018 as compared to the
accumulated amount recognised under HKAS 39.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15
will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance
including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction
Contracts and the related Interpretations when it becomes
effective.
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AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEF E£ 5 R 2 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZ—F—+F+-_A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2.

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Cont’d)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Cont’d)

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
Specifically, the Standard introduces a 5-step approach to
revenue recognition:

. Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

e Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

e Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

e Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity

satisfies a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when
(or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
‘control’ of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.
Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in HKFRS
15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive
disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.

In 2016, the HKICPA issued Clarifications to HKFRS 15 in
relation to the identification of performance obligations,
principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing
application guidance.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of HKFRS 15 in the future may result in more
disclosures, however, the directors of the Company do
not anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 will have
a material impact on the timing and amounts of revenue
recognised in the respective reporting periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BERRMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZ2=—F—+F+-A=+—HIFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Cont’d)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will
supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on
the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by
a customer. Distinctions of operating leases and finance
leases are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced
by a model where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability have to be recognised for all leases by lessees,
except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease
liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the
present value of the lease payments that are not paid
at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted
for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of
lease modifications, amongst others. For the classification
of cash flows, the Group currently presents upfront
prepaid lease payments as investing cash flows in relation
to leasehold lands for owned use while other operating
lease payments are presented as operating cash flows.
Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation
to lease liability will be allocated into a principal and an
interest portion which will be presented as financing cash
flows by the Group.
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AKM Industrial Company Limited ZEF E£ 5 R 2 7

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZ—F—+F+-_A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Cont’d)

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Cont’d)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Cont’d)

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised prepaid
lease payments for leasehold lands where the Group is a
lessee. The application of HKFRS 16 may result in potential
changes in classification of these assets depending on
whether the Group presents right-of-use assets separately
or within the same line item at which the corresponding
underlying assets would be presented if they were owned.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in
HKAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a
lease either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS
16.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of HK$205,000 as disclosed
in note 31 of which HK$140,000 had original lease terms
over 1 year. A preliminary assessment indicates that these
arrangements will meet the definition of a lease. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in respect
of all these leases unless they qualify for low value or
short-term leases.

Furthermore, the application of new requirements may
result in changes in measurement, presentation and
disclosure as indicated above.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the other new and revised HKFRSs will have
no material impact on the results and the financial position
of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BERRMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZ2=—F—+F+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“CO").

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements
is determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within
the scope of HKAS 17 Leases, and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value
in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZ—F—+F+-_A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

e level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved where the Company:

. has power over the investee;

e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE M BERRMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZ2=—F—+F+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BERRNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZ—F—+F+-_A=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss
or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39
or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over
those policies.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 &=

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Investment in an associate (Cont’d)

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of an associate used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events
Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate is initially recognised in the

in similar circumstances.

consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive income
are not accounted for unless such changes resulted in
changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group's share of losses of an associate exceeds the
Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that
the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using
the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in
an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 &=

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Investment in an associate (Cont’d)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss
with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate.
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss 